

Home Search Collections Journals About Contact us My IOPscience

Plasma medicine: an introductory review

This content has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text. 2009 New J. Phys. 11 115012 (http://iopscience.iop.org/1367-2630/11/11/115012)

View the table of contents for this issue, or go to the journal homepage for more

Download details:

IP Address: 147.251.27.134 This content was downloaded on 17/02/2014 at 16:30

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

New Journal of Physics

The open-access journal for physics

Plasma medicine: an introductory review

M G Kong¹, G Kroesen², G Morfill^{3,5}, T Nosenko^{3,4}, T Shimizu³, J van Dijk² and J L Zimmermann^{3,4}

¹ Loughborough University, Loughborough LE11 3TU, UK
² Eindhoven University of Technology, 5600 MB Eindhoven, The Netherlands
³ Max Planck Institut für extraterrestrische Physik, D-85748 Garching, Germany
⁴ Institut für Allgemeine Pathologie und Pathologische Anatomie, Technische Universität München, D-81675 Munich, Germany
E-mail: gem@mpe.mpg.de

New Journal of Physics **11** (2009) 115012 (35pp) Received 29 July 2009 Published 26 November 2009 Online at http://www.njp.org/ doi:10.1088/1367-2630/11/11/115012

Abstract. This introductory review on plasma health care is intended to provide the interested reader with a summary of the current status of this emerging field, its scope, and its broad interdisciplinary approach, ranging from plasma physics, chemistry and technology, to microbiology, biochemistry, biophysics, medicine and hygiene. Apart from the basic plasma processes and the restrictions and requirements set by international health standards, the review focuses on plasma interaction with prokaryotic cells (bacteria), eukaryotic cells (mammalian cells), cell membranes, DNA etc. In so doing, some of the unfamiliar terminology—an unavoidable by-product of interdisciplinary research—is covered and explained. Plasma health care may provide a fast and efficient new path for effective hospital (and other public buildings) hygienehelping to prevent and contain diseases that are continuously gaining ground as resistance of pathogens to antibiotics grows. The delivery of medically active 'substances' at the molecular or ionic level is another exciting topic of research through effects on cell walls (permeabilization), cell excitation (paracrine action) and the introduction of reactive species into cell cytoplasm. Electric fields, charging of surfaces, current flows etc can also affect tissue in a controlled way. The field is young and hopes are high. It is fitting to cover the beginnings in New Journal of Physics, since it is the physics (and nonequilibrium chemistry) of room temperature atmospheric pressure plasmas that have made this development of plasma health care possible.

⁵ Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.

IOP Institute of Physics **D**EUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT

Contents

1.	Introduction		2	
2.	Gen	General requirements for plasma health care		
	2.1.	UV radiation	6	
	2.2.	Reactive molecules	8	
	2.3.	Electrical currents	9	
	2.4.	Required plasma doses	9	
	2.5.	Scaling of plasma devices	10	
	2.6.	Biomedical plasma simulation studies	10	
3.	Biol	Biologically active plasma-generated agents and their application in medicine 1		
	3.1.	Effects of UV radiation	12	
	3.2.	RS	12	
4.	Plas	ma interaction with prokaryotic cells	14	
	4.1.	Overview	14	
	4.2.	Bacterial and biomolecule inactivation	14	
	4.3.	Inactivation mechanisms	18	
5.	Plas	Plasma interaction with eukaryotic cells		
	5.1.	Blood coagulation	20	
	5.2.	Effects of low-temperature plasma treatment on mammalian cells	20	
	5.3.	Effects of non-thermal plasma treatment on malignant cells	21	
6.	Electric fields and living cells and tissues		22	
	6.1.	History	22	
	6.2.	The role of calcium	22	
	6.3.	Cell membrane permeabilization	23	
	6.4.	Measurements	23	
	6.5.	Simulations and modelling	24	
	6.6.	DNA	24	
	6.7.	Cell movements	24	
	6.8.	Ultra-short pulses	25	
	6.9.	Cancer treatment and wound healing	25	
7.	Summary and conclusions		26	
Re	References26			

1. Introduction

Plasmas have been used for a long time for sterilization of medical equipment, packaging in the food industry, implants, blood coagulation, etc [1]–[8]. This is partly due to their high bactericidal effectiveness and partly due to their easy access into narrow and confined spaces [9]–[14]. In recent years, cold—less than 40 °C at the point of application—atmospheric plasma (CAP) sources have been developed that (in principle) provide the possibility to extend plasma treatment to living tissue. This opens up new horizons. Not only is there the vision of rapid, contact free sterilization, which can access even small pores and microscopic openings,

but also one may envisage new possibilities of drug delivery at the molecular level, new biomedical effects due to ions and, in the distant future, maybe even new plasma drug developments operating at the cellular level that may act selectively and/or regeneratively. Much of this will depend on the ability to 'design' plasmas chemically, to produce, transport and apply plasmas physically and to determine the plasma-tissue effects quantitatively using cell and microbiology, followed by medical studies.

Plasmas can be produced by various means, e.g. radio frequency, microwave frequencies, high voltage ac or dc, etc. During the non-quibilium processes both excited species and reactive gases may be produced (as well as ions and electrons) and it is these species that deserve particular attention for health care.

The field of, more generally, **plasma health care**, is an emerging field that has its roots, quite naturally, in plasma science. It has grown rapidly, however, and is now the subject of a broad interdisciplinary research effort involving medicine, biology, physics, chemistry and engineering. In this 'Focus Issue' of the New Journal of Physics we summarize contributions from the latest research activities across these disciplines. To introduce the topic and to familiarize the interested reader with some of the terminology used, we found it expedient to include this introductory review.

In the course of this 'Focus Issue' there will be publications on **plasma sources** and designs, statements about safety limits (always important for new medical devices and applications), non-equilibrium **chemistry** initiated by plasma interactions, **plasma diagnostics**, etc.

From **microbiology** there will be investigations with bacteria (gram-positive and gramnegative, which are common types with different cell wall structures), fungi, spores and viruses, which can all be destroyed using plasmas with varying degrees of effectiveness.

In **cell-biology**, the difference between 'prokaryotic cells' (bacteria) and 'eukaryotic cells' (e.g. skin fibroblasts or epithelial cells) will be discussed, as will the cell cycle with its different phases including DNA replication and cell division. Cell death (apoptosis), cell proliferation, arrest of cell cycle phases all play a role in the biological applications—why and how will be briefly discussed.

From the **medical** area there is an early report [15] on the use of Ar plasma in skin surgery. For chronic wound treatment with Ar plasma, so far only one clinical study has been started [16, 17] and the Phase II is near completion with over 1000 treatments carried out already. Air plasma devices have been also used in medical practice as a source of gaseous nitric oxide. The results of animal studies and clinical trials showed that NO-containing gas generated by plasma is effective in tissue disinfection and regulating inflammatory processes associated with acute and chronic wounds [18]–[20] and respiratory problems [21].

In particular, we point the reader to the following publications in this issue [22]–[32]:

- Removal and sterilization of the biofilms and planktonic bacteria by microwave-induced argon plasma at atmospheric pressure [22].
- Cell permeabilization using a non-thermal plasma [23].
- Generation and transport mechanisms of chemical species by a post-discharge flow for inactivation of bacteria [24].
- Designing plasmas for chronic wound disinfection [25].
- Low pressure plasma discharges for the sterilization and decontamination of surfaces [26].

- Inactivation factors of spore forming bacteria using low-pressure microwave plasmas in N_2 and O_2 gas mixture [27].
- Application of epifluorescence scanning for monitoring the efficacy of protein removal by RF gas-plasma decontamination [28].
- A novel plasma source for sterilization of living tissues [29].
- The effect of low-temperature plasma on bacteria observed by repeated AFM imaging [30].
- Physical and biological mechanisms of direct plasma interaction with living tissue [31].
- Nosocomial infections—a new approach towards preventive medicine using plasmas [32].
- Portable air plasma torch contributes to rapid blood coagulation as a method of preventing bleeding [33].
- Acidification of lipid film surfaces by non-thermal DBD at atmospheric pressure in air [34].
- Degradation of adhesion molecules of G361 melanoma cells by a nonthermal atmospheric pressure microplasma [35].
- Reduction and degradation of amyloid aggregates by a pulsed radio-frequency cold atmospheric plasma jet [36].
- A two-dimensional cold atmospheric plasma jet array for uniform treatment of large-area surfaces for plasma medicine [37].

Amongst envisaged applications are

- Hospital hygiene: Particularly, the growth of resistant bacteria (e.g. MRSA) poses a problem that requires fast and efficient sterilization [38]. Plasma devices that can do this are being developed and the expectation is that these will make a big difference. Of course, plasma (hand) sterilization is not restricted to hospitals—community associated infections, as opposed to nosocomial (hospital induced) ones are growing rapidly, too. Therefore all public buildings, children nurseries, nursing homes, etc would benefit from such a device.
- Antifungal treatment: It has been shown that plasmas can be employed efficiently to combat fungal diseases [32]. The plasma effect even propagates through socks. Common diseases such as tinea pedis (athlete's foot), which are believed to affect 25–40% of the population in Europe, the US and Japan, can therefore be treated quite effectively using appropriate plasma devices in the home or in medical practices.
- **Dental care**: 23% of over 65 year olds and over 75% of pregnant women suffer from periodontal infections [39]. These infections, in turn, increase the risk of heart diseases and other medical complications. Plasmas, with their ability to penetrate into microscopic openings between tooth and gum, seem ideal candidates for prophylactic treatment in addition to normal dental care.
- Skin diseases: Most dermatological problems are associated with bacterial or fungal (side) effects. There are over a thousand skin diseases ranging from acneiform eruptions, dermatitis, melanocytic (cancerous), pruritic to vascular related afflictions. Whilst plasmas are unlikely (based on our current technology) to cure such diseases, they can help to reduce complications through bacteria and fungi. In future, with 'designer' plasmas becoming a 'molecular drug delivery agent', even treatments of some of the diseases themselves may become possible.

- Chronic wounds: About 1% of the population in developed countries is suffering from chronic wounds [40]. There are different causes, e.g. venous diseases, arterial diseases, diabetes mellitus, pyoderma gangraenosum, carcinoma. As the population ages, the occurrence is likely to increase. Again, plasmas may help with the treatment—and again it is unlikely that plasmas will 'cure' the underlying disease. But by eliminating bacterial and fungal infections, plasmas may well reduce the suffering, support the treatment and speed up the recovery.
- **Cosmetics**: Plasma treatment for cosmetic re-structuring of tissue [41]–[44] has been discussed, as well as skin rejuvenation using nitrogen plasmas [45, 46]. Tooth bleaching is also enhanced by plasmas, mainly due to the *in situ* production of hydrogen peroxide [47].

There are other envisaged applications, ranging from blood cleansing, pharmaceutical processes to cancer treatment, but these are not developed sufficiently far at present to go into details—nevertheless they remain fascinating research topics. For further material on these and additional topics the reader is referred to three other reviews—by Laroussi [11], Fridmann *et al* [3] and Heinlin *et al* [48].

A final note for this introduction. The human body contains about 1.5 kg of bacteria around 100 trillion microbes—with a few per cent residing on the largest organ, our skin [49, 50]. Most of these bacteria are not pathogens that induce diseases and possibly death they are even beneficial to our well being (so-called 'commensal organizms'). Plasma treatment, like antibiotics, does not differentiate between 'good' and 'bad' bacteria yet, although with more research the treatment might be made more specific in future. With present technology, plasma treatment reduces the bacterial load in the treatment area—*in vitro* tests have resulted in reductions of up to a factor 1 million in a few seconds. Some bacteria invariably survive—as indeed they do in the case of antibiotics, too. Hence the population can—and will—regrow. Typically every 20 min the bacteria number doubles⁶. This implies the following.

If the bacterial load is 1 million cm^{-2} and plasma treatment has successfully reduced this number to $1 cm^{-2}$, then it will typically take 10 h for the population to regrow to its former equilibrium value. This will be the case for the commensal organizms as well as for the pathogens.

The important difference is, however, that in the case of the pathogens the plasma treatment is providing the normal immune system with a better chance to combat the threat in its own natural way.

The above numbers illustrate that the (future) plasma treatment should be continued on a once/twice per day basis until the threat of infection has been overcome. This is basically similar to the usual antibiotic applications, the difference being the (at present) restriction of plasma treatment to the body surface, the almost instantaneous (few seconds) bactericidal response to the plasma application, the lack of a microbial defence system (and hence resistance build-up) to plasmas and the comparatively low level (or even absence) of unwanted side-effects, as far as we know, to suitably designed plasmas.

⁶ The bacterial growth rate depends on the availability of nutrients and environmental conditions—see e.g. charts provided by the Alberta Health Services and others.

IOP Institute of Physics **D**EUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT



Figure 1. Plasma produced by the Floating-Electrode Dielectric Barrier Discharge (FE-DBD) electrode and schematic design of the FE-DBD electrode (top left) [52].

2. General requirements for plasma health care

We restrict ourselves for the remainder of this review to CAPs, since these are the most recent technological development with relevance to health care.

CAPs come in (basically) three types:

- 1. **Direct plasmas**, which use the skin (or other tissue) as an electrode so that the current produced has to pass through the body. The most widely used technology is the 'dielectric barrier' plasma source [3, 51, 52] (figure 1 [52]).
- 2. **Indirect plasmas**, which are produced between two electrodes and are then transported to the area of application entrained in a gas flow. Different devices exist, from very narrow 'plasma needles' to larger 'plasma torches' [11, 13, 47], [53]–[60] (figures 2–5 [53]–[56]).
- 3. **'Hybrid plasmas'**, which combine the production technique of (1) with the (essentially) current-free property of (2). These are also called 'barrier coronal discharges (BCD)'. This is achieved by introducing a grounded wire mesh electrode, which has much smaller electrical resistance than the skin—so that practically all the current passes through the wire mesh [32] (figure 6 [32]).

Plasmas can be produced by discharges in air, in noble gases or in any desired mixture in order to produce a 'chemical cocktail' of atoms, ions and molecules for biomedical applications. General requirements for all possible plasma components do not exist. Current safety constraints for all plasma sources refer to general electrical (e.g. VDE) safety regulations, to ultraviolet (UV) production, reactive species (RS) production and current limits through the skin.

2.1. UV radiation

UV light, especially at around 260 nm (UVC), initiates a reaction between two pyrimidine molecules (thymine and cytosine) adjacent to each other on the same strand of DNA causing

IOP Institute of Physics **D**EUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT





Figure 2. Schematic drawing of the plasma needle set-up (left) and plasma generated by the plasma needle (right) [53].



Figure 3. Atmospheric pressure plasma jet (APPJ) for the treatment of punctually inoculated test strips: schematic set-up and photo taken with 8 ms of exposure time [54].

them to form a dimer. The formation of pyrimidine dimers is the most important type of UVC damage. The presence of a pyrimidine dimer in the DNA affects base pairing and can cause mutations during DNA replication (synthesis of a complementary DNA strand). Exposure to high doses of UV radiation can cause mutagenesis and cell death. More details can be found in section 3. The 'safe' UV dose is estimated (for healthy skin, which is protected against UVC through a thin outer layer—the stratum corneum) by folding the UV production spectrum with an 'erythemal weighting function'. The maximum allowed dose rate is $30 \,\mu\text{W cm}^{-2}$. (For more details see SCCP European Commission Report 0949/05.)

For plasma (or UV) treatment of unprotected cells (skin damage and wounds) no comparable regulations exist at present. Ethically, the (faint) possibility of mutagenous cell damage may be regarded as an acceptable risk when balanced against possible benefits in the treatment of other serious diseases, but this is a very difficult issue. The best approach is to design plasmas with as little UVC as possible.



IOP Institute of Physics Φ deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft

Figure 4. Image showing (a) a cross-field plasma jet and (b) a linear-field jet. Both jets were sustained at 15 W input rf power at 4 MHz [55].



Figure 5. Schematic view of the plasma torch system and produced plasma: (a) plasma torch, (b) plasma below the torch and (c) plasma produced between the electrodes and the cylinder [56].

2.2. Reactive molecules

The major reactive molecules produced in atmospheric pressure plasmas are initiated by dissociation reactions of plasma electrons with atmospheric oxygen and nitrogen. The resulting chemical network involves over 200 important reactions, with products such as O₃, NO, NO₂, etc. The CPSC (Consumer Products Safety Commission) Report from 26/09/2006 recommends an upper Ozone limit of 50 ppb. More detailed studies by R Corsi point to a factor 10 lower



IOP Institute of Physics Φ deutsche Physikalische Gesellschaft

Figure 6. Plasma produced by the 'HandPlaSter' prototype, with 18 kV_{pp} at 12.5 kHz. The inset shows the application (hand disinfection) [32].

values. However, they have not been officially adopted so far. Regarding the nitrogen species, the US National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOH) suggests a permitted exposure limit of 5 ppm for NO_2 and 25 ppm for NO over an 8 h period. Several countries have regulated the NO_2 threshold at 2 ppm.

2.3. Electrical currents

Since plasmas consist of electrons and ions, charges may flow—i.e. currents may pass through the skin in medical applications. The natural resistance of dry skin is $10 \text{ k}\Omega$. In the presence of a grounded conductor this implies that virtually no current will pass through the skin. This is the case for the 'hybrid' BCD plasmas. However, in the traditional DBD devices, the skin is an electrode by design. Of course the currents are small—typically a few mA to a few tens of mA. The ICNIRP current limits are 0.5 mA at 1 kHz, rising to 20 mA at 100 kHz. These levels were based on 'touch perception' by test persons (and relate mainly to 'creepage' currents in electrical devices). Since most DBD devices are operating at high frequencies, the ICNIRP current limits are not exceeded. Regarding the plasma 'jet' sources or torches, again currents through the skin can be neglected, although a small fraction of the discharge may pass through the skin. Suitable electrode designs have been developed that minimize this effect.

2.4. Required plasma doses

The 'dose'—or the amount of time over which the plasma is applied—depends on the plasma composition and the purpose. For bacterial sterilization, *in vitro* experiments have shown that a few seconds to a few minutes are necessary [11, 13, 32, 47, 56, 57]; for a recent review see [3]. Important in this context are the levels of 'unwanted' by-products, e.g. the integrated UV dose (which should be kept small for *in vivo* application) and the total level of RS has to remain below the WHO limits (although they are essential for the bactericidal efficiency of the plasma—so we have some opposing requirements). This may require particular designs, e.g. where the RS are filtered away after they have completed their sterilizing effects, or the use of catalysts as part

of the electrode designs. Plasma doses also can be adjusted to e.g. combine bactericidal effects on the one hand and tissue regeneration on the other [25]. This requires careful and extensive experimental tests.

2.5. Scaling of plasma devices

The different applications mentioned above (which for general health care may be extended to include air and water purification, pollution control, micro-filtering of aerosols, de-odorizing, etc) require different geometries, shapes and sizes for possible plasma devices. Consequently, a large number of designs has been developed and tested already. The ability to devise one specific plasma production design that can be scaled (and shaped) for a multitude of applications—and which works quickly, is an ongoing engineering challenge.

'Jet' sources have the advantage that the surface to be treated may be 'rough' on scales of micro- to millimetre, the disadvantage is the limited size of the jet (mm), which requires mechanical translation or multiple jet designs [61]. Plasma torches [56] have much larger areas, about 25 cm^2 with a power consumption of about 100 W. They are suitable for larger area treatments. 'DBD' sources have the advantage that they can be produced (in principle) to cover even larger areas and they can be shaped—however, the surface has to be smooth enough (\ll mm), otherwise the discharge becomes inhomogeneous and treatment is 'patchy'. The 'Hybrid' BCD sources combine the positive aspects of size and shape with the independence of surface structure. They are a fairly recent development, with sizes of 200 cm² tested so far at a power consumption of 0.5 W cm⁻². Their competitiveness with the more established (DBD, jet torch) technologies still needs to be assessed, but they appear to be quite promising.

2.6. Biomedical plasma simulation studies

In the past five years, a number of computational studies have been dedicated to microplasmas of interest to biomedical applications.

In 2005, Brok *et al* [62] used the Plasimo/MD2D model to simulate the plasma needle in helium with a small admixture of nitrogen. This study was based on a fluid model that encompassed a self-consistent description of the electrostatic field, drift-diffusive motion of the plasma species and a calculation of the mean electron energy. By solving the electron energy balance, rather than relying on the local field approximation (LFA), non-local electron heating could be accounted for. For an excellent comparison of the electron energy balance, the LFA and more rigorous methods like Particle-in-Cell/Monte-Carlo methods, we refer to [63]. The study of Brok *et al* revealed that even for nitrogen abundances down to 0.1%, N⁺₂ is the dominant ion species. The study did not take the possible heating of the background gas into consideration.

Starting in 2006, Sakiyama *et al* followed up on this work with a series of publications regarding the plasma needle. In [64], they presented simulation results that were based on finiteelement calculations. This allowed the authors to obtain a much better spatial resolution in the region near the powered electrode than that which Brok *et al* had been able to achieve. On the other hand, this work assumed the LFA, rather than solving the mean electron energy equation as Brok *et al* did, which is a simplification of Brok's physical model.

In [65] further investigations on the plasma needle were made and it was possible to demonstrate two modes of operation. For low plasma powers, the plasma was shown to operate in a corona mode, in which Penning ionization is the dominant reaction forming N_2^+ , and large variations of the charged species densities can be observed during an RF-cycle. Above a certain

power threshold, the plasma makes a transition to a glow mode, which is dominated by (direct) electron impact ionization of helium. The authors favourably compared their simulation of the mode transition with experimental studies that previously indicated that such transition may occur.

In [66], a detailed analysis of the structure of the sheath was made using an atmospheric RF argon plasma with a small admixture of nitrogen. This model assumed a simplified onedimensional spherical geometry, but this time the mean electron energy was calculated from the electron energy equation, rather than assuming the LFA. In addition, in this paper, the authors calculate the gas temperature from the heat balance equation. The authors also discuss the fact that the LFA did not yield converging results in the simulations of discharges at higher powers.

The influence of the electrical properties of the target surface were investigated in [67]. There it was predicted that for a conducting surface, the flux densities are strongly peaked at the closest surface point. On the other hand, for dielectric materials and low plasma powers, the flux density resembles a Gaussian profile and is primarily due to the remote production of plasma species. For higher powers, when the plasma makes the transition to the glow mode, a relatively uniform ionization layer is formed in a plasma sheath close to the target surface; this results in more uniform flux densities.

In [68], a detailed discussion of the influence of the gas flow on the discharge structure was provided. In this paper, it is suggested that, above all, the gas flow hampers the entrainment of the ambient N_2 gas into the discharge region. As a result, the ionization of N_2 by excited helium molecules that are produced in the discharge region happens mostly in an off-axis annular region. These predictions are in qualitative agreement with the results of experiments carried out by Goree *et al* [69].

The above-mentioned paper is the most complete numerical description of a biomedical plasma source available at present: it self-consistently takes into account the flow and heating of the buffer gas, the electrostatic potential and the plasma composition. Yet it is far from feature complete. In particular, the model assumes that the plasma is operated in a pure nitrogen environment, rather than air, so oxygen-containing species are not taken into account. Furthermore, the plasma composition may be affected by turbulent mixing [69], which is not dealt with in Sakiyama's paper [68]. In addition, the validity of the fluid approach must be analysed in greater detail [63].

All computational studies we have mentioned so far concerned the plasma needle. A lot of research has been done on other atmospheric glow discharges with potential biomedical applications, albeit in different contexts. As an example, micro discharges have been extensively studied in the context of Plasma Display Panel (PDP) technology (see for example [70] and the references therein). Other numerical microcell studies with a high level of sophistication are discussed in [71, 72] (as well as the references therein).

It seems that the models that underlie these studies can be modified in order to simulate sources of biomedical interest. The key challenge is to deal with plasmas in more complex gas mixtures, like humid air. The much more complex chemistry is a challenge on its own, but introduces an indirect complication as well: the presence of multiple timescales. The (primary) electronic processes in the plasma (like direct impact excitation and ionization) happen on the micro-second timescale, while a (periodic) steady-state solution may not be obtained before the chemical process involving heavy particles have settled, which may take milli-seconds or even seconds, depending on the system details. In addition, afterglow effects introduce yet another timescale (e.g. due to recombination).

IOP Institute of Physics **D**EUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT

Summarizing, there is a high level of innovation in designing CAP devices for bio-medical applications. The health care needed for new approaches to some of the most pressing (global) problems (e.g. MRSA) is great. Plasmas may play an important role in this field.

3. Biologically active plasma-generated agents and their application in medicine

The mechanisms by which low-temperature atmospheric pressure plasmas affect viruses, bacteria and eukaryotic cells are based on the synergy of several biologically active plasma components. The most important of them are plasma-generated UV radiation and RS including free radicals and some ground state molecules such as peroxides and ozone. Under certain conditions, heat, charged particles and metastable-state molecules and atoms produced by plasmas may also play important roles in the interaction between plasma and biological systems.

3.1. Effects of UV radiation

The effects of UV radiation on biological systems have been intensively studied at the molecular, cellular and organizmal levels. These effects show a strong dependence on the UV dose and wavelength. Thus, the small amount of the solar UVB (290–320 nm) radiation that reaches the Earth surface is a prerequisite for the vitamin D synthesis in the human skin [73]. Solar UVA radiation (320–400 nm) controls the biosynthesis of hormones involved in the regulation of the diurnal or circadian rhythmicity in mammals (including humans) [74]. However, a long-term exposure to UV radiation is known to cause skin erythema, keratitis and ultimately may lead to skin photoageing, cancer and cataract [75].

There are two main mechanisms for the UV-induced cellular damage at the molecular level: (i) direct effects of UV radiation that are based on the UV energy absorption by cellular macromolecules and (ii) DNA, protein and lipid alterations caused by the UV-induced disturbance in the cellular redox state (oxidative stress). Direct effects of UV radiation include modifications of DNA, such as cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers and pyrimidine(6-4) pyrimidone photoproducts [76, 77] and conformational rearrangement and aggregation of the protein polypeptide chains [78]. Besides the direct modification of macromolecules, UV radiation induces the release of intracellular RS [79, 80], which in turn cause oxidative degradation of lipids (lipid peroxidation) [81] and oxidative DNA damage [82]. The high-energy shortwavelength UV (UVC; 200–290 nm) is the most damaging type of UV radiation. Sterilization with germicidal lamps relies mostly on the effect of UVC on bacterial DNA and proteins [83]. In eukaryotic cells, a significant fraction of UV-induced DNA damage is repaired by the nucleotide excision repair system [84]. However, the DNA repair system makes errors. Chronic exposure to subtoxic doses of UV radiation leads to the accumulation of these errors (mutations) and resulting genetic instability of cells [82]. Similar effects can be achieved by cell exposure to high concentrations of exogenous RS such as superoxide radicals, hydrogen peroxide, singlet oxygen and hydroxyl radicals.

3.2. RS

RS have been traditionally regarded as hazardous by-products of cellular metabolism and are implicated in the development of a wide array of human diseases [85]. However, it has been known for a long time that RS produced by mammalian immune system cells, macrophages

and neutrophils, play a fundamental role in the antibacterial and antiviral defence [86, 87]. Accumulating evidence suggests that RS are also involved in the regulation of cellular functions. In multicellular organizms, regulation of diverse physiological processes relies on a complex network of intracellular and extracellular signals. Typically, extracellular signal molecules (hormones, growth factors, cytokines and neurotransmitters) bind to specific cell surface receptors and by virtue of this activate intracellular signal cascades that ultimately lead to the activation of transcription factors involved in the regulation of gene expression. RS appear to be involved in the regulation of a large number of signalling pathways at multiple levels from receptors to nucleus (reviewed in [88]). It has been shown that exogenous RS may activate upstream proteins in signalling pathways such as growth factor and cytokine receptors [89, 90] as well as downstream transcription factors [91, 87]. The two general mechanisms of the RS signalling are: (i) alterations in intracellular redox state and (ii) oxidative modification of proteins involved in signalling pathways [88].

Being signal molecules, RS are involved in essentially all physiological processes in the human organizm including regulation of vascular contraction, blood coagulation, angiogenesis, inflammation, immune system response and nerve impulse transmission [93]–[96]. At the cellular level, RS regulate cell differentiation, division, migration and apoptosis [97]–[100]; they control cell-to-cell adhesion [101], biosynthesis of growth factors and collagen production [102, 103]. Cellular responses to different types of RS depend on their concentration. For instance, depending on concentration, hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) either stimulates or inhibits cell proliferation or induces cell apoptosis [88]. Nitric oxide (NO[•]) at low concentration acts as anti-inflammatory agent that inhibits lipid peroxidation and protein oxidation by reactive oxygen species, diminishes membrane permeability and limits cell apoptosis [97]–[108]. However, when it is formed at high rates, NO[•] contributes to cell and tissue injury [109]–[110].

The interplay between diverse RS adds to the complexity of cell regulation. Regulation of blood coagulation by superoxide (O_2^-) and NO[•] is probably the best-studied example of such an interplay [96, 112]. NO[•], which is known as an anticoagulative factor, prevents platelet aggregation under physiological conditions. O_2^- released by activated or dysfunctional endothelial cells indirectly affects platelet activity by scavenging NO[•] and by virtue of this induces blood coagulation. Another remarkable example of the RS synergy is the regulation of cell apoptosis by NO[•] and H₂O₂. In a concentration-dependent manner, NO[•] can either inhibit or enhance the hydrogen peroxide-mediated apoptosis in different cell types [111], [113]–[116]. Interestingly, the toxic effect of H₂O₂ on bacteria is induced even by low-concentration NO[•]. It was proposed that one of the mechanisms of the antimicrobial macrophage defence relies on different effects of NO[•] and H₂O₂ synergy [118] (see [25] for more detail).

The physiological potential of UV radiation and RS has been used for therapeutic purposes on a regular basis. UVB and UVA radiation phototherapy is an approved method of clinical treatment of psoriasis, eczema, polymorphic light eruption, vitiligo and of many other inflammatory dermatoses [118]–[120]. NO[•] and NO[•]/O₂ inhalation therapy is used to treat primary pulmonary hypertension and pulmonary vascular disease in infants [121]. Chemical compounds that release NO[•] under physiological conditions, are widely prescribed in the case of hypertension, angina and heart failure (e.g. nitroglycerin, amyl nitrite and S-nitrosothiols) [122]. RS and their chemical carriers are also used for topical medical applications. Thus, high-concentration (3%) H₂O₂ solution is used clinically for wound disinfection. Recent studies show that topical application of low (0.15%) concentrations of H₂O₂ stimulates the wound closure process by activating redox-dependent pathways [123]. Gels and polymers releasing NO[•] were

shown to be effective for the treatment of diabetic foot ulcers [124]. It has been proposed that the RS-donating compounds should replace growth factors in chronic wound therapy [125]. An uncontrolled kinetic of RS release is the major problem for using such compounds for topical applications. The development of plasma devices generating pharmacologically appropriate doses of RS would resolve this problem and open a new window of opportunity in the novel medical treatment methods.

4. Plasma interaction with prokaryotic cells

4.1. Overview

Although ionized gases have been known to be biocidal for centuries, the first report of inactivation data using CAPs was published only 14 years ago in 1996 [126]. Since then, the main interest in CAP interaction with prokaryotic cells has been the provision of a hitherto unavailable low-temperature solution to medical decontamination, particularly sterilization of surgical instruments and medical devices [6]. CAP decontamination of inanimate objects represents a major component of plasma medicine with the most numerous number of active research groups, the most comprehensive data of efficacy, and indeed the furthest advance towards widespread practical use so far. This is the first arena of plasma interaction with prokaryotic cells. With no direct exposure of human to gas discharges, there is relatively little toxicology concerns such as long-term impact on living human tissues by plasma-generated UV photons, RS and negative ions. However, CAP-based medical sterilization has its unique challenge and this is the inactivation of prions, a misfolded protein that defies any current commercial decontamination procedures [127]. Responsible for transmissible spongiform encephalopathy (TSE), in particular Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease (CJD) in human and bovine spongiform encephalopathy (BSE) in cattle, prions are far more resistant to external stresses than bacteria, virus and fungi. Prion decontamination represents the ultimate challenge in medical sterilization and more generally in decontamination of inanimate surfaces.

In addition to decontamination of inanimate surfaces, the generic bactericidal capability of CAPs has led to their use for decontaminating biological surfaces such as plant, animal and human tissues [1, 3, 5, 128, 129]. This represents the second arena of CAP interaction with prokaryotic cells, and is motivated by a number of healthcare needs, for example food decontamination, skin diseases and disinfection of living tissues in open wound. In such scenarios, plasma interaction with plant or human tissues is inevitable thus posing toxicology questions, for example possible plasma damages of healthy tissues [3] and possible compromised inactivation efficacy when bacteria migrate away from tissue surface into the bulk of the tissue [129]. Therefore the delivery of bactericidal plasma species must be appropriately weighed and timed, highlighting the critical need to understand the identities of key plasma species and their critical concentrations that induce bacterial inactivation with little toxicology consequence. There are therefore at least two arenas of research into plasma interaction with prokaryotic cells, namely decontamination of inanimate and of biological surfaces.

4.2. Bacterial and biomolecule inactivation

CAPs have been shown, by many different groups, to be very effective against gram-negative bacteria, gram-positive bacteria, spores, biofilm-forming bacteria, virus and fungi. Broadly



Figure 7. *B. subtilis* spores (a) before and (b) after CAP treatment. Green and red florescence indicate intact and bleached membranes [130].

speaking, the generic capability of CAPs against microorganizms is well established under controlled laboratory conditions [11]. Much has been learnt about some specific features of their bactericidal effects. For example, CAPs are far more effective against gram-negative than gram-positive bacteria and they can cause severe damages to membranes of microorganizms as shown in figure 7, where the BacLight method is used to identify intact and bleached membranes of B. subtilis spores with green and red florescence, respectively [130]. The plasma used in the treatment was a room-temperature cold atmospheric He-O2 plasma jet excited at 30 kHz. Similar results have also been observed in vegetative cells of bacteria. Key membrane components include lipopolysaccharide (LPS), phospholipid, peptidoglycan and membrane proteins. It is possible that CAPs cause a limited number of punctures through the membrane and induce irreversible damages to some membrane components, leading to cell death without altering the physical appearance of the microorganizm. This may be related to a sequence of cascaded events, both physical and biochemical, triggered by CAP impact and eventually the gradual death of a microorganizm. Equally it is possible that CAPs deliver a much more severe damage to the physical structure of the microorganizm. Figure 8 shows SEM images of the same B. subtilis spores before and after treatment by the same CAP He– O_2 jet [130]. It is evident that the impact of the CAP jet ranges from severe rupture (marked with an arrow) to little physical alteration (unmarked). This suggests at least two types of CAP impact, firstly a severe and blanket damage to the physical structure of a microorganizm that is likely to cause rapid cell death, and secondly less severe punctures that may trigger an irreversible sequence of physical and biochemical changes leading to a more gradual cell death.

Some bacteria produce biofilm, an extracellular polysaccharide matrix in which bacteria are embedded. Biofilms may form on living or non-living surfaces, and represent a prevalent mode of microbial life in natural, industrial and hospital settings [131]. Examples include *Pantoa agglomerans* and *Streptococcus mutans*, which are important in food processing and dentistry, respectively, and can be inactivated by CAPs [132]–[134]. However, a biofilm forms a physical shield and restricts direct exposure of bacteria to plasma species, thus leading to compromised inactivation [132]. It is possible that plasma agents such as RS, UV photons and charged particles can be used to cause damage to the biofilm itself. This is an area of current



Figure 8. SEM images of spores of *B. subtilis* (a) before and (b) after treatment of a He– O_2 CAP jet. The arrow in (b) indicates ruptured spores [130].

interest for example in the case of plasma oral hygiene and root canal cleaning [47, 135]. The issue of physical shielding is also important when CAPs are used to treat surface-borne cell populations in which cells are easily stacked in many thousands of layers [136, 137]. When such stacked cell populations are treated by CAPs, cells in the uppermost layers are inactivated first. However, the inactivated cells remain in the uppermost layers and as a result they become a physical shield for cells located beneath the uppermost layers. Therefore in a laboratory study, it is important to distinguish the susceptibility of individual cells to plasmas from that of a cell population.

Many microorganizms that have been shown to be vulnerable to CAP treatment are directly relevant to some of the most important healthcare challenges. One example is hospital acquired infections, also known as nosocomial infection, caused by mainly MRSA and Clostridium difficile among others [138, 139]. The former is gram-negative, whereas the latter is grampositive. One major cause of hospital acquired infection is human contact with a hospital environment of poor hygiene, which is at present addressed often by diligent applications of washing, detergent and hydrogen peroxide vapours. The persistence of hospital acquired infection in many different countries highlights the inadequacy of the current strategies and the need for alternative technologies. Figure 9 shows MRSA after treatment by an argon microwave atmospheric plasma torch. The microwave plasma device shown in the insert was developed jointly by the Max-Planck Institute for extraterrestrial Physics and Adtec Plasma Technology Co. Ltd. MRSA were plasma treated for 2 min and then incubated for 24 h. Where the plasma was applied, practically no surviving bacteria (identifiable as single colony forming units) are detected, indicating a bacterial load reduction of 99.9999%. These results suggest that CAPs are certainly capable of deactivating key microbial contaminants for hospital acquired infection. To advance these promising results towards a practical solution, two important challenges are (i) to scale up intrinsically small atmospheric plasmas for the physical environment of hospitals (e.g. floors, walls, beds and infrastructures) and (ii) to minimize environmentally unfriendly byproducts (e.g. NO_x and ozone) so that CAP-based techniques can be applied in the proximity of patients. These demand pushing further the frontier of the current understanding of cold atmospheric physics and chemistry.

IOP Institute of Physics **O**DEUTSCHE PHYSIKALISCHE GESELLSCHAFT



Figure 9. MRSA culture treated for 2 min with the MicroPlaSter device (insert upper right). A clear zone of inhibition is observed with an \sim 5.3 cm diameter. (The distance between the opening of the plasma torch and the culture is 2 cm. Heat is not responsible for the bactericidal effect, since the gas temperature is \sim 30 °C.)

Another major cause of hospital acquired infection is the reuse of inadequately sterilized surgical instruments, partly due to the difficulty to decontaminate small 3D or/and hollow features of some instruments and partly due to prion contaminants that render all commercial sterilization procedures useless. The second challenge highlights a relatively overlooked area within the plasma physics community that contamination of surgical instruments is not limited by microbial effects, but includes those by biomolecules such as proteins and human tissues [140]. Although it is yet to be fully established that non-equilibrium plasmas can significantly reduce prion infectivity, their capability to reduce protein models of prion has been reported including purified protein such as bovine serum albumin (BSA) and surgically acquired proteins [6, 141]. Figure 7 shows the reduction of BSA by a kHz CAP jet in helium-oxygen flow with the BSA labelled by a laser-induced florescence technique. The ultimate test for nonequilibrium plasmas including CAP would be against CJD agents in an appropriate animal model, the topic of which is itself in hot debate and highlights the complexity of prion diseases [142]. An equally essential challenge is whether CAP could be developed to treat effectively large and often three-dimensionally structured instruments as well as long lumens and catheters of diameters below 1 mm. This is not an engineering issue alone, since the need to deliver abundant reactive plasmas species over large areas and into narrow channels imposes many fundamental questions on stability of inherently small atmospheric plasmas when generated in electronegative gases.

It is important to revisit the ability of CAPs against microorganizms and proteins in a broader context beyond medical sterilization. Antimicrobial effects of CAP find applications in fungal diseases, skin diseases, root canal cleaning, pharmaceutical process control and food decontamination, to name just a few examples. The expansion of this basic CAP capability is easily conceivable for other applications where microbial contamination is an issue, including recontamination of open wounds [3]. The ability of CAP to inactivate and degrade components of prokaryotic cells such as proteins has implications well beyond prion disease. For example, it has recently been recognized that CAP could inactivate adhesion proteins of cancer cells [143] thus offering a new route to plasma-assisted cancer therapy. Although these are early evidences in a long journey towards a successful therapeutic solution, the study of CAP interaction with cell components represents a more detailed enquiry at a cellular level (e.g. plasma biology) and may lead to new phenomena and new application implications (e.g. plasma medicine) not easily imaginable with today's understanding of plasma-cell interaction.

4.3. Inactivation mechanisms

Broadly speaking and in the context of plasma inactivation, mechanisms of CAPs with prokaryotic cells involve at least two aspects, namely cellular components and processes through which bactericidal plasma species inactivate (biological mechanisms) and bactericidal species delivered by CAP to cells (physical mechanisms) [11, 130]. The former is less understood, partly reflecting the fact that there have been few biologist-led investigations. However, different mechanisms have been proposed from the plasma physics community with different levels of supporting evidence. For example, membrane breaching has been substantiated (see figure 7 and [49]) and DNA damage has been perceived as less important in oxygen-containing CAP systems because of atmospheric absorption plasmas. In the case of membrane breaching, this could be caused by either physical punctures or oxidation of membrane proteins. It has also been suggested that the metabolism of prokaryotic cells can be significantly affected by CAPs [144] and this can lead to cell death. Many questions remain, including possible damage and degradation of CAP to other cell components such as LPs (in the case of gram-negative cells) and peptidoglycan (in the case of gram-positive cells), and possible cascading events in which one or few plasma-induced effects trigger an irreversible cell damage.

Comparatively less uncertain are possible physical mechanisms [3, 130, 145]. However, they depend on the chemical composition of the working gas mixtures as well as the temporal and spatial details of plasma generation. In oxygen containing CAP, particularly at excitation frequencies below the very high frequency (VHF) band of 30-300 MHz, reactive oxygen species are abundant including the ground and excited states of oxygen atoms, ozone and OH radicals (originating from moisture in the ambient air) [130, 144, 146]. In principle, oxidation potentials of ozone, ground state oxygen atoms and OH radicals are 2.07, 2.4 and 2.8 V, respectively. This would suggest a dominating role of OH radicals, however, the oxidation of prokaryotic cells also depends on the concentrations of the different species relative to their respective threshold concentrations beyond which cell damage is irreversible. In other words, the bactericidal effect of a particular plasma species depends on both its reactivity and its concentration, e.g. its plasma dosage. The efficiency measure is then possibly a weighted product of the two properties. The current understanding of CAP interaction with prokaryotic cells acknowledges the importance of plasma dosage as a concept but is primitive in terms of its quantitative measure. The latter is related to the difficulty to single out one particular plasma species in CAPs (in fact any low-temperature plasmas). Such plasmas tend to produce a cocktail of most RS with little opportunity to enable their individual production alone. In an attempt to shed light on which species of oxygen-containing CAP are definitely important and which are definitely minor players, a recent study employed bacterial mutants with specific repairing mechanisms removed [147]. The study found that OH radicals and UV photons play minor roles in a typical helium–oxygen CAP, whereas oxidation is dominant. In this study, oxygen was about 0.5% of the background helium. Under such conditions, combination of two-photon laser-induced fluorescence experiments [148] and fluid simulation [149] suggest that the concentration of ground state oxygen atoms is about one order of magnitude higher than that of ozone. Given the difference in their oxidation potential, it is likely that oxygen atoms play a very important, if not dominant, role in bacterial inactivation of oxygen-containing CAPs [145]–[147].

It should be noted, however, that a significant change to the temporal character of plasma excitation could lead to the generation of more energetic electrons, which can in turn increase the production of UV photons. This could be done by using very short high-voltage pulses that have been shown to shift the electron energy distribution function (EEDF) towards higher energies and produce more UV photons [150]. In such cases, UV production may be raised towards, or even above, the critical dosage level, thus elevating the UV role in bacterial inactivation. Greater UV production is possible by increasing the excitation frequency well above the high frequency (HF) band of 3-30 MHz. There is some evidence that this may increase UV production at microwave frequencies [56], though studies of HF and VHF CAPs suggest that electron heating could be compromised by electron acceleration being 'starved' due to the short half period at high frequencies [151, 152]. Alternatively, UV production in nitrogencontaining plasmas is greater and this may be an interesting venue to pursue. In general, it is of great interest to pursue oxygen-based reaction chemistry for two reasons, firstly the ability of gaseous oxygen species to diffuse into small crevices in the context of surgical instrument sterilization and secondly the ability to control UV damage to healthy tissues in the context of wound healing. It is along this line of consideration that we place considerable emphasis on OH-based reaction chemistry, facilitated for example by CAP in touch with liquid or wet objects [153].

Charged particles and electric field can also play an important role, as proposed by Laroussi [14] and more recently discussed in greater detail [154]. The difficulty to measure charge densities and electric field makes it difficult to go much further than hypotheses, though recent success in measurement of electric fields in atmospheric microplasmas offers hope for greater support from the plasma diagnostics community. In general, the current studies of plasma–cell interaction mechanisms face the persistent difficulty of reliable measurement of electron density and electron energy, ion density and energy, and concentrations of radicals and negative ions for atmospheric plasmas. While an empirical strategy aimed at achieving an acceptable level of application efficacy may yield some dividends, it would be naïve to assume that this would be adequate given the complexity of plasma physics and chemistry of CAPs and the fact that new CAPs are being rapidly conceived with a similar expanse of unknown phenomena. Such complexity is compounded by the complexity in cellular responses in a multispecies cell population and in contact with human tissue. To provide a true plasma-assisted solution to healthcare, fundamental studies in plasma biology and plasma physics must go hand in hand with applied investigations of plasma medicine and plasma-assisted healthcare.

Our review of plasma interaction with prokaryotic cells has focused on the bactericidal effects of CAPs, and this shares some similarity with that of low-pressure gas discharges [10]. However, the interest in plasma interaction with prokaryotic cells goes well beyond biological decontamination. Indeed recent studies have ventured into modification of cell functions, particularly metabolism, so that plasma-treated prokaryotic cells could be encouraged to digest pollutants, increase hydrogen production and convert crude oil. Therefore plasma interaction

with prokaryotic cells has at least three arenas of research activities, sterilization of inanimate objects, disinfection of plant and human tissues and modification of cellular functions [155].

5. Plasma interaction with eukaryotic cells

In the following section, the emerging field of plasma medicine is discussed, where low-temperature atmospheric-pressure plasmas have a broad range of applications, including the disinfection of living tissues [52], blood coagulation [156], induction of apoptosis in malignant tissues [157], a localized modulation of cell adhesion and proliferation [158]–[163] and tissue modification of interest in electrosurgery [164].

5.1. Blood coagulation

Quasi-thermal plasmas in the form of the so-called cauterization devices have been used for a long time in medical practice for blood coagulation in wound treatment and surgery. The mechanism of blood coagulation by high-temperature plasmas is based on heat-driven tissue protein denaturation and blood desiccation. However, results of recent studies by Fridman et al [52] and Kalghatgi et al [165] indicate that high temperature is not a prerequisite for the plasma-induced blood coagulation. The authors show that plasmas can trigger natural, rather than thermally induced, blood coagulation processes. They performed in vitro experiments in which they exposed blood samples to low-temperature plasmas generated by the FE-DBD device. The rates of blood coagulation in plasma-treated samples were 15 times higher than in non-treated control samples. Studies using an animal model (SKH1 mice) demonstrated that low-temperature atmospheric-pressure plasmas enhance blood coagulation in vivo as well [141]. To specify the mechanism responsible for the plasma-assisted blood coagulation, authors performed additional experiments, which allowed the exclusion of factors such as the electric field, light, temperature, plasma-induced change of blood pH and the increase in the concentration of calcium ions due to their release from calcium-bound proteins [150]. They found that the plasma treatment activates the coagulation cascade by inducing the aggregation of the coagulation protein fibrinogen into fibrin. In turn, fibrin catalyses blood coagulation factors; this ultimately leads to the clot formation. The fact that the albumin structure was not altered by the plasma treatment suggests that plasma agents selectively trigger the polymerization of coagulation proteins. Low-temperature plasmas do not cause any pain or unpleasant smells usually associated with the thermal tissue treatment. Therefore it can potentially replace the quasi-thermal plasmas traditionally used in surgery.

5.2. Effects of low-temperature plasma treatment on mammalian cells

Studies on the effects of low-temperature atmospheric-pressure plasmas on mammalian cells have been conducted by several research groups [154, 156], [158]–[163]. Two major types of plasmas used in this research are the low-temperature atmospheric-pressure helium plasmas generated by plasma jet or needle devices and air plasmas produced by the dielectric barrier discharge (DBD) device. *In vitro* experiments with fibroblasts, endothelial and smooth muscle cells demonstrated that plasma affects cells in a dosage-dependent manner. Disruption of cell-to-cell adhesion and cell detachment from substrates were observed after cell exposure to low-intensity helium plasmas [158]–[160], [162, 163]. The cells, detached due to the plasma

treatment, remain viable, reattach to the plate surface and proliferate after a short incubation time. Besides the alteration of cell adhesion, a short-term exposure to the helium plasma causes a temporary cell membrane permeabilization [163] and inhibition of cell migration [160]. Longer exposure times or treatment with higher intensity plasmas induced either cell apoptosis (programmed cell death) or necrosis (accidental cell death) [158]–[160], [162]. The mode of the helium plasma-induced cell death depends on the plasma dose and irradiation conditions. Kalghatgi *et al* [156] observed similar cellular responses to plasmas generated using a DBD plasma device. Depending on its intensity and exposure time, the DBD-plasma treatment induced either apoptosis or caused necrosis in endothelial cells. In addition, authors reported an induction of cell proliferation five days after treatment with low-intensity plasmas. The observed stimulation of cell proliferation presumably results from the release of growth factors (e.g. fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF2)) by the plasma-damaged cells.

Identification of plasma agents that induce the cellular responses described above is crucial for understanding the mechanisms of plasma-cell interactions. This information would provide a basis for designing task-specific plasmas for therapeutic applications. Experiments performed by Stoffels' group show that different plasma agents are involved in such processes as cell apoptosis induction and alteration of cell adhesion. The fact that the addition of antioxidants to the culture media did not prevent the detachment of plasma-treated cells provides evidence against the role of plasma-generated reactive oxygen species in this process [159]. Recent results presented in Stoffels et al [162] give additional support to this conclusion. In this study, plasma was applied to endothelial and smooth muscle cells through a porous cell culture membrane. The membrane allowed for the penetration of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and their direct contact with cells grown on the opposite side of this membrane, while blocking charged particles and UV photons. No cell detachment was observed under these experimental conditions. However, the membrane did not prevent the plasma-induced cell apoptosis. Based on these results, the authors hypothesized that the cell detachment observed in their previous experiments [158] should be ascribed to electrostatic plasma-cell interactions. Plasma-generated reactive oxygen and nitrogen species are most probably the cause of plasma-induced cell apoptosis. Kalghatgi et al [156] also consider RS as the key players of plasma-induced proliferation and apoptosis in endothelial cells. The observed cell membrane permeabilization by low-intensity plasmas can be assigned to the action of the electric field (see section 6).

Summarizing the results on plasma treatment of mammalian cells published so far, different doses of low-temperature plasma can cause necrosis, apoptosis or cell detachment. Since the plasma-induced detachment of cells is a reversible process, the plasma-treated cells can be removed, transferred and reattached. This opens new possibilities in fine surgery, where a part of the tissue must be removed with high precision without damaging surrounding tissues or causing inflammation. A non-inflammatory treatment of arterial walls in patients suffering with atherosclerosis is one possible area of application of low-temperature plasmas [162]. The ability of plasmas stimulating or inhibiting cell proliferation suggests that low-temperature plasmas provide a promising tool for a localized regulation of angiogenesis [156].

5.3. Effects of non-thermal plasma treatment on malignant cells

The discovery of the pro-apoptotic capacity of low-temperature atmospheric-pressure plasmas calls attention to plasmas as a potential method of non-inflammatory anti-cancer therapy. The

removal of cancer cells by inducing apoptosis has several advantages compared with necrosis. Necrosis is generally associated with a rapid release of intracellular enzymes and cell breakdown products, which cause inflammation and damage to neighbouring tissues. During apoptosis, cells maintain their membrane integrity thus preventing the leakage of the pro-inflammatory intracellular contents. The protease activation leads to the digestion of macromolecules and fragmentation of cellular structures preparing cells for their ingestion by macrophages and adjacent cells [166].

The results of the pilot studies performed by several research groups confirmed that treatment with low-temperature plasmas is able to induce several modes of cell death including early or late apoptosis and necrosis in cultured human melanoma and hepatocellular carcinoma cells [157], [167]–[169]. Fridman *et al* [157] and Kim *et al* [168] observed signatures of apoptosis such as DNA fragmentation and release of the mitochondrial protein cytochrome *c* in malignant cells irradiated with low-intensity plasmas. The authors consider plasma-generated RS as the main cause of the apoptosis induction in these cells. Zhang *et al* [169] showed that the effect of argon–oxygen plasma on cell viability depends on the oxygen concentration. They indicated oxygen and hydroxyl radicals (O⁻ and OH⁻, respectively) as critical agents of the plasma-induced apoptosis in malignant liver cells.

An effective anti-cancer therapy should selectively trigger apoptosis in malignant cells without damaging the adjacent normal cells. The result of the comparative study of plasma effects on normal and malignant human liver cells presented in Zhang *et al* [169] showed higher susceptibility of the cancer cells to the plasma treatment. Further research is required to understand the mechanisms of the selectivity of plasma effects on cells.

6. Electric fields and living cells and tissues

6.1. History

The influence of electric fields on living cells and tissues is a direction of research which is already quite old. However, only in the eighties the number of publications in this area started to explode. This is probably triggered by public unrest regarding the dangers of mobile phone technology and high voltage lines. The scientific understanding has matured gradually as more and more detailed information became available. In this section, we do not have the intention to be complete. We will refer to a number of key publications and describe the growing scientific insight to be obtained by those.

McCaig *et al* [170] and Mamontov *et al* [171] have written comprehensive reviews on various phenomena that can occur when cells are subjected to electric fields, and they also discuss the electric fields that can be present in the human body. One of the claims is that wounded epithelia create an electric field that controls wound healing. Nerve growth is enhanced and directed by electric fields. Cells may be stimulated to move in the direction of the electric field (see the section devoted to that later). As a conclusion, the perspectives of electric fields for wound healing are discussed briefly, as well as the potential of electric fields for healing cancer. For a recent publication see [172].

6.2. The role of calcium

Calcium ions play a central role in the analysis of the interaction of electric fields and living cells. Cho *et al* [174] have performed direct measurements (epifluorescence microscopy) of the

 Ca^{2+} concentration, showing a redistribution of integral membrane proteins, reorganization of microfilament structures, and a four-fold increase of the intracellular calcium ion concentration for low frequency (1–10 Hz) electric fields applied to human hepatoma cells. They attribute all this to an increased influx of Ca^{2+} through the cell membrane from the extracellular medium. Different authors [173]–[175] describe how cells can respond to voltage differences of around 0.1 mV across themselves. They attribute this to differences in the cross-membrane potential, with different behaviour of the cathode facing and the anode facing side of the cells, caused by differences in passive Ca^{2+} transport (electrophoresis or electro-osmosis). In these papers, the Ca^{2+} ions are considered to be the most important reagents in the interaction mechanisms; however, the role of the cell membrane is also already mentioned.

6.3. Cell membrane permeabilization

An overwhelming majority of the papers in the literature points to the role of the cell membrane, to be more precise, its permeabilization due to electroporation. If an electric field is present across a living cell, the potential across the cell membrane and across the intracellular membranes is modified. At the anode side of the cell, the membrane potential difference is increased. At the cathode side it is reduced. This has consequences for the transport phenomena, more precisely the calcium transport.

6.4. Measurements

Bourgignon *et al* [175] have done experiments on human fibroblast cells with high voltage pulse galvanic stimulation. The rates of protein and DNA synthesis increased by 40–60%. There is an 'optimum' voltage around 50–75 V (7.5 cm⁻¹ electrode separation), which corresponds to an electric field strength of 6–10 V cm⁻¹. Cells located near the cathode of their setup grew faster. Exposure to larger fields (>30 V cm⁻¹) inhibits the protein and DNA production. As a mechanism they point at depolarization and hyperpolarization of the cell membrane. The ion channels are gated and membrane bound enzymes are activated. Forrester *et al* [176] as well as other authors [177, 178] point to modifications of the cell membrane potential, resulting in modified ion transport. They also mention the disruption of the organization of the 'bound water' at the cell membrane in connection to trans-membrane proteins such as receptors. Chang *et al* [178] find that dc fields induce reversible permeabilization of cell membrane, whereas ac fields also can induce sonic motion and structural fatigue of cell membrane. Teissié *et al* [179] have studied cell membrane permeabilization (electropermeabilization) and cell fusion. They report a critical potential difference across the cell membrane for inducing permeabilization of 200 mV.

Beebe *et al* [180] have demonstrated that short pulses in the electric field induce calcium release from intracellular stores and subsequent calcium influx through store-operated channels in the plasma membrane. Susil *et al* [181] have determined the permeabilization of the cell membrane, and the suppression or increase of the trans-membrane potential caused by cell density changes. The cell density and cell organization are very important in determining the induced transmembrane potential resulting from an electric field.

The paper by Frey *et al* [182] deserves special attention. The authors present a measurement of the membrane potential by staining Jurkat cells with Anninie-6, a voltage sensitive dye with 5 ns response time. The voltage across the anodic pole of the cell membrane rises to 1.6 V after

15 ns. This is twice the value needed for electroporation. At the cathodic side, the voltage is 0.6 V. The imposed field was $10 V \mu m^{-1}$, so the field penetrates the cells and its organelles undisturbed. These measurements finally have shown that the effects that are assumed by other authors actually occur and can be detected.

6.5. Simulations and modelling

Binhi *et al* [183] have developed a model that predicts the also experimentally observed 'window effect': small electric fields do have an influence, larger fields do not. They suggest an ion-interference mechanism: the quantum interference of ions bound within proteins. Their model is based on solving the Schrödinger equation.

Several authors, e.g. [184]–[186], have modelled the cell membrane and the electroporation processes associated with electric fields. Separate models have been developed for the electrolytic behaviour with conductive and dielectric interactions, and a membrane–electrolyte interaction model, a multicellular model with active and passive interactions, a membrane channel population model, a membrane electroporation model and Kirchoff's laws are all coupled. All this is used to predict the behaviour of biological systems upon exposure to electric fields.

Joshi *et al* [187] have performed a model study of electroporation, based on the Smoluchowski equation. They demonstrate that a minimum pulse duration is required for irreversible breakdown of the cell membrane. These models have been refined and extended by the same authors [188], now encompassing a self-consistent model of the electroporation dynamics. A coupled scheme of the Laplace, Nernst-Planck and Smoluchowski equations is used. They find that there is a finite time delay for pore formation, with a voltage overshoot. Pore closing is generally slower (10^{-1} s) . Hu *et al* [189] have performed molecular dynamics simulations of cell membranes exposed to nanosecond pulsed electric field (nsPEF). They predict pore formation within 5–6 ns, tending to start from anodic side of the electrically stressed membrane.

6.6. DNA

A few authors discuss the connection between electric fields and DNA. Mamontov *et al* [171] discuss the stimulation of a three-fold increase of cell mitosis in a 50 Hz electric field. As a first-order explanation, they suggest that the cells pass quicker through the G_2 period in the mitosis process. Bourgignon *et al* find an increase of the DNA synthesis rate by 40–60% for a narrow process window (about 10 V cm⁻¹). Larger fields have less effect. Stickley *et al* [177] have observed DNA damage in non-adherent cells caused by nanosecond pulses of very high voltages. Adherent cells do not demonstrate this behaviour, except for mouse 3T3 cells.

Wang *et al* [190] have studied a sort of reverse of wound healing: the inhibition of the proliferation of lens epithelial cells. They claim that this is a cause for secondary cataract. They also indicate that this phenomenon may be related to modifications in the transition between the G_1 to the S phase in mitosis.

6.7. Cell movements

In some cases, electric fields can stimulate the cells to move and align themselves either parallel or perpendicular to the direction of the electric field. Zimmerman *et al* [191, 192] point to

polarization of the cell membrane as primary cause for enhanced cell fusion and orientation. They have observed non-spherical cells orienting themselves in the presence of an electric field. Depending on the frequency, transport and orientation of cells occur either parallel or perpendicular to the electric field. Partly, this is an electrostatic effect (induced polarization of the cell, and then electrostatic force).

Brown *et al* [193], just as Zimmerman *et al* [191, 192] have detected electric field induced locomotion of 3T3 fibroblast cells. They claim that this process is calcium independent. Galvanotaxis involves the lateral redistribution of plasma membrane glycoproteins, which are involved in cell-substrate adhesion.

Onuma *et al* [194] have observed cell elongation and alignment in the direction of the field (10 V cm^{-1}) . A preferential position shift towards the cathode occurs, which could be inhibited by a calcium channel blocker (D-600). An increase in the intracellular calcium concentration was measured. As an explanation they suggest a depolarization of the cell membrane on the cathode side, which causes a larger calcium influx, which in turn causes depolymerization of the actin cortical meshwork, which then contracts and 'pulls' the cell forward. This is assisted by activation of the actomyosin system. Combined, these phenomena cause the cell to retract from the anode directed region and move towards the cathode.

6.8. Ultra-short pulses

Karl Schoenbach of Norfolk, Virginia, is the 'founding father' of the application of nsPEFs. He and his co-authors have published a large number of papers, in which they shed light on many of the underlying mechanisms in the interaction between the electric field and living cells ([194]–[206] are good examples, but many more can be found in the literature).

The consequences of changing the pulse duration were investigated in [195]. As the pulse duration decreases, the electroporation of the cell membrane also decreases and the poration of intracellular membranes increases. If the electric fields are sufficiently high, nsPEF can induce apoptosis in human and mouse cells. Using flow cytometry and immunofluorescence microscopy it is possible to show damaged DNA after nsPEF exposure [196], but also a reduced tumour growth in a mouse model was observed. If pulses are short enough, cell membrane electroporation does not occur (the membrane potential adapts slower than the pulse duration), but the inner cell structure is modified.

Very high fields (>50 kV cm⁻¹) have the potential to affect transport processes across intracellular membranes and may be used for gene transfer into cell nuclei [197]. They can also trigger apoptosis for cancer treatment. Even more intense pulses of 300 kV cm^{-1} [198] and 10 ns induce modifications of the intracellular structures: breaching of intracellular granule membranes without inflicting damage to the cell membrane, abrupt rises in intracellular calcium concentrations and enhanced gene expression. Submicrosecond pulses induce apoptosis.

Escherichia coli can be killed if the pulses are short enough [199] and other types of bacteria also die due to nsPEF. Furthermore, aquatic nuisance species (Zebra mussels, Daphnia and Brine shrimps) can be stunned. This indicates a potential for biofouling control.

6.9. Cancer treatment and wound healing

Kirson *et al* [185] have applied ac fields to inhibit the proliferation of various cancer cells (malignant melanoma, glioma, breast carnicoma and lung carnicoma). Clinical tests indicate a

halving of the rate of progression of recurrent glioblastoma. Hardly any side effects have been detected >70 months after treatment. Nuccitelli *et al* [200] have applied nanosecond pulsed electric fields (nsPEF) of >20 kV cm⁻¹ and 30 ns rise time. They find that tumour cell nuclei rapidly shrink, and tumour blood flow stops. Melanomas are observed to shrink by 90% within two weeks following treatment. A second treatment then results in complete remission. These pioneering papers clearly indicate that electric fields have good potential in treating cancer.

Goldman *et al* [207] have studied the influence of electric fields on wound healing. They find a narrow window (37–50 V m⁻¹, 10 Hz), within which the cell proliferation rate of human dermal fibroblasts is enhanced. Dubé *et al* [208] have studied wound healing on *in-vitro* cultured skin samples. An enhanced proliferation of epithelial cells is observed, an increased cell migration and collagen synthesis.

7. Summary and conclusions

Plasma Health Care has developed in the last few years into an innovative and growing field of research and development. It combines a number of fields—physics, chemistry, engineering, biology, microbiology and medicine—into an extensive multidisciplinary research effort.

Current activities relate to the design of specialized plasma sources and delivery techniques, to understanding the processes that lead to fungicidal and bactericidal effects without harming mammalian cells, to maintain prescribed safety standards and to investigate the processes that are of relevance in medicine and hygiene. At the same time, more 'adventurous' paths are pursued—the search for plasma designs that produce apoptosis (programmed cell death) in cancer cells, whilst leaving normal cells unaffected (cancer cells have different mechanical properties with respect to normal cells—there is a change in their cytoskeleton, which makes them more compliant—a fact that plasma treatment may exploit), the role of the cell cycle on plasma treatment efficacy, the possibility of molecular drug delivery (including short-lived locally produced species in the non-equilibrium plasma-chemical processes), investigations of resistance development of bacteria to plasma treatment and the optimization of antibacterial plasma designs, etc.

The principally new elements in plasma health care are the molecular delivery of RS (and the corresponding ability to access even micron-sized regions), the possible use of ions as active agents (drugs), the combination of charging by electrons and the induced electric fields, leading to an increased permeability of cell walls for drug delivery, the specific production of RS inside cells leading to a targeted chemistry (e.g. Fenton's reaction) and, of course, the possibility to 'design' the plasma with respect to various abundances and combinations of RS.

These new elements alone will allow for a broad scope of future research—both fundamental and applied. The NJP Focus Issue highlights recent studies in what promises to develop into an exciting and important multidisciplinary research field with a huge application potential for the benefit of mankind.

References

- Deng S, Ruan R, Mok C K, Huang G, Lin X and Chen P 2007 Inactivation of *Escherichia coli* on almonds using nonthermal plasma J. Food Sci. 72 M62–6
- [2] Deilmann M, Halfmann H, Bibinov N, Wunderlich J and Awakowicz P 2008 Low-pressure microwave plasma sterilization of polyethylene terephthalate bottles J. Food Prot. 71 2119–23

- [3] Fridman G, Friedman G, Gutsol A, Shekhter A B, Vasilets V N and Fridman A 2008 Applied plasma medicine Plasma Process. Polym. 5 503–33
- [4] Moreau M, Orange N and Feuilloley M G J 2008 Non-thermal plasma technologies: new tools for biodecontamination *Biotechnol. Adv.* 26 610–7
- [5] Selcuk M, Oksuz L and Basaran P 2008 Decontamination of grains and legumes infected with Aspergillus spp. and Penicillum spp. by cold plasma treatment Bioresour. Technol. 99 5104–9
- [6] Deng X, Shi J J and Kong M G 2007 Protein destruction by a helium atmospheric pressure glow discharge: capability and mechanisms J. Appl. Phys. 101 074701
- [7] Morrison J C F 1977 Electrosurgical method and apparatus for initiating an electrical discharge in an inert gas flow US Patent No. 4,040,426
- [8] Farin G and Grund K E 1994 Technology of argon plasma coagulation with particular regard to endoscopic applications *Endosc. Surg. Allied Technol.* 2 71–7
- [9] Lerouge S, Wertheimer M R and Yahia L'H 2001 Plasma sterilization: a review of parameters, mechanisms, and limitations *Plasmas Polym.* 6 175–88
- [10] Moisan M, Barbeau J, Moreau S, Pelletier J, Tabrizian M and Yahia L'H 2001 Low-temperature sterilization using gas plasmas: a review of the experiments and an analysis of the inactivation mechanisms *Int. J. Pharm.* 226 1–21
- [11] Laroussi M 2002 Non-thermal decontamination of biological media by atmospheric pressure plasmas: review, analysis and prospects *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 30 1409–15
- [12] Sharma A, Pruden A, Zengqi Y and Collins G J 2005 Bacterial inactivation in open air by the afterglow plume emitted from a grounded hollow slot electrode *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39 339–44
- [13] Sladek R E and Stoffels E 2005 Deactivation of *Escherichia coli* by the plasma needle J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 38 1716–21
- [14] Laroussi M, Mendis D A and Rosenberg M 2003 Plasma interactions with microbes New J. Phys. 5 41
- [15] Brekhov E I, Kozlov N P, Rebizov V I, Tartynskii S I, Suslov N I, Pekeshev A V and Naidenko M V 1989 Experimental and clinical studies and prospects of using plasma flows *Khirurgiia (Mosk)* 7 94–6
- [16] Stolz W 2007 Low-temperature argon plasma for the sterilization of chronic wounds; from bench to beside Abstracts 1st Int. Plasma Medicine Conf. (Corpus Christi) p 15
- [17] Isbary G 2009 Low-temperature argon plasma to decrease bacterial load on chronic wounds Abstracts 2nd Int. Plasma Medicine Conf. (San Antonio) p 49
- [18] Davydov A I, Kuchukhid ze S T, Shekhter A B, Khanin A G, Pekshev A V and Pankratov V V 2004 Clinical evaluation of the intraoperative application of air-plasma flow enriched by nitrogen monoxide in operations on uterus and adnexa *Prob. Gyneco. Obstet. Perinatol.* **3** 12–7 (in Russian)
- [19] Grigorian A S, Grudyanov A I, Frolova O A, Antipova Z P, Yerokhin A I, Shekhter A B and Pekshev A V 2001 Application of a new biological factor, exogenous nitric oxide, for the surgical treatment of periodontis *Stomatology* 80 80–3 (in Russian)
- [20] Shekhter A B, Serezhenkov V A, Rudenko T G, Pekshev A V and Vanin A F 2005 Beneficial effect of gaseous nitric oxide on the healing of skin wounds *Nitric oxide* 12 210–9
- [21] Golubovskii G A, Prokofieva E I, Inkina A V and Komarova E Zh 2004 Application of exogenous nitric oxide in otolaryngology *Russ. Otolaryngol.* 5 56–9 (in Russian)
- [22] Lee M H *et al* 2009 Removal and sterilization of biofilms and planktonic bacteria by microwave-induced argon plasma at atmospheric pressure *New J. Phys.* **11** 115022
- [23] Leduc M et al 2009 Cell permeabilization using a non-thermal plasma New J. Phys. 11 115021
- [24] Sato T et al 2009 Generation and transport mechanism of chemical species by a post-discharge flow for inactivation of bacteria New J. Phys. 11 115018
- [25] Nosenko T et al 2009 Designing plasmas for chronic wound disinfection New J. Phys. 11 115013
- [26] Rossi F et al 2009 Low pressure plasma discharges for the sterilization and decontamination of surfaces New J. Phys. 11 115017
- [27] Singh M K et al 2009 Inactivation factors of spore-forming bacteria using low-pressure microwave plasmas in an N₂ and O₂ gas mixture New J. Phys. 11 115027

- [28] Baxter H C et al 2009 Application of epifluorescence scanning for monitoring the efficacy of protein removal by RF gas–plasma decontamination New J. Phys. 11 115028
- [29] Martines E et al 2009 A novel plasma source for sterilization of living tissues New J. Phys. 11 115014
- [30] Pompl R et al 2009 The effect of low-temperature plasma on bacteria observed by repeated AFM imaging New J. Phys. 11 115023
- [31] Dobrynin D *et al* 2009 Physical and biological mechanisms of direct plasma interaction with living tissue *New J. Phys.* **11** 115020
- [32] Morfill G et al 2009 Nosocomical infections—a new approach towards preventive medicine using plasmas New J. Phys. 11 115019
- [33] Kuo S P et al 2009 Portable air plasma torch contributes to rapid blood coagulation as a method of preventing bleeding New J. Phys. 11 115016
- [34] Helmke A, Hoffmeister D, Mertens N, Emmert S, Schuette J and Vioel W 2009 Acidification of lipid film surfaces by non-thermal DBD at atmospheric pressure in air *New J. Phys.* 11 115025
- [35] Lee H J, Shon C H, Kim Y S, Kim S, Kim G-C and Kong M G 2009 Degradation of adhesion molecules of G361 melanoma cells by a nonthermal atmospheric pressure microplasma *New J. Phys.* 11 115026
- [36] Bayliss D L, Walsh J L, Shama G, Iza F and Kong M G 2009 Reduction and degradation of amyloid aggregates by a pulsed radio-frequency cold atmospheric plasma jet *New J. Phys.* **11** 115024
- [37] Nie Q Y, Cao Z, Ren C S, Wang D Z and Kong M G 2009 A two-dimensional cold atmospheric plasma jet array for uniform treatment of large-area surfaces for plasma medicine *New J. Phys.* **11** 115015
- [38] Grundmann H, Aires-de-Sousa M, Boyce J and Tiemersma E 2006 Emergence and resurgence of meticillinresistant *Staphylococcus aureus* as a public-health threat *Lancet* 368 874–85
- [39] Klein L and Gibbs R 2004 Use if microbial cultures and antibiotics in the prevention of infection-associated preterm birth AJOG 190 1493–502
- [40] Etufugh C N and Phillips T J 2007 Venous ulcers Clin. Dermatol. 25 121-30
- [41] Bogle M A, Arndt K A and Dover J S 2007 Evaluation of plasma skin regeneration technology in low-energy full-facial rejuvenation Arch. Dermatol. 143 168–174
- [42] Kilmer S, Semchyshyn N, Shag G and Fitzpatrick R 2007 A pilot study on the use of a plasma skin regeneration device (Portrait PSR3) in full facial rejuvenation procedures *Lasers Med. Sci.* **22** 101–9
- [43] Elsaie M L and Kammer J N 2008 Evaluation of plasma skin regeneration technology for cutaneous remodeling J. Cosmet. Dermatol. 7 309–11
- [44] Foster K W, Moy R L and Fincher E F 2008 Advances in plasma skin regeneration J. Cosmet. Dermatol. 7 169–79
- [45] Potter M J, Harrison R, Ramsden A, Bryan B, Andrews P and Gault D 2007 Facial acne and fine lines: transforming patient outcomes with plasma skin regeneration Ann. Plast. Surg. 58 608–13
- [46] Kilmer S, Fitzpatrick R, Bernstein E and Brown D 2005 Long term follow-up on the use of plasma skin regeneration (PSR) in full facial rejuvenation procedures *Lasers Surg. Med.* 36 22
- [47] Lee H W, Kim G J, Kim J M, Park J K, Lee J K and Kim G C 2009 Tooth bleaching with nonthermal atmospheric pressure plasma *J. Endod.* **35** 587–91
- [48] Heinlin J 2009 in preparation
- [49] Grice E A et al 2009 Topographical and temporal diversity of the human skin microbiome Science 324 1190–2
- [50] Sears C L 2005 A dynamic partnership: celebrating our gut flora, Anaerobe 11 247-51
- [51] Fridman G, Brooks A D, Balasubramanian M, Fridman Am Gutsol A, Vasilets V N, Ayan H and Friedman G 2007 Comparison of direct and indirect effects of non-thermal atmospheric-pressure plasma on bacteria *Plasma Process. Polym.* 4 370–5
- [52] Fridman G, Peddinghaus M, Ayan H, Fridman A, Balasubramanian M, Gutsol A, Brooks A and Friedman G 2006 Blood coagulation and living tissue sterilization by floating-electrode dielectric barrier discharge in air *Plasma Chem. Plasma Process.* 26 425–42
- [53] Kieft I E, van der Laan E P and Stoffels E 2004 Electrical and optical characterization of the plasma needle New J. Phys. 6 149

- [54] Weltmann K D, Brandenburg R, Woetke T, Ehlbeck J, Foest R, Stieber M and Kindel E 2008 Antimicrobial treatment of heat sensitive products by miniaturized atmospheric pressure plasma jets (APPJs) J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 41 194008
- [55] Walsh J L and Kong M G 2008 Contrasting characteristics of linear-field and cross-field atmospheric plasma jets Appl. Phys. Lett. 93 111501
- [56] Shimizu T et al 2008 Characterization of microwave plasma torch for decontamication Plasma Process Polym. 5 577–82
- [57] Weltmann K D, Brandenburg R, Ehlbeck J, Forest R, Stieber E and Woettke T 2008 Plasma decontamination at atmospheric pressure—basics and applications *Proc. IEEE 35th Int. Conf. on Plasma Science*
- [58] Foest R, Kindel E, Ohl A, Stieber M and Weltmann K D 2005 Non-thermal atmospheric pressure discharges for surface modification *Plasma Phys. Control. Fusion* 47 B525–36
- [59] Pipa A V, Bindemann T, Foest R, Kindel E, Roepcke J and Weltmann K D 2008 Absolute production rate measurements of nitric oxide by an atmospheric pressure plasma jet (APPJ) J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 41 194011
- [60] Woedke T, Kramer A and Weltmann K D 2008 Plasma sterilization: what are the conditions to meet this claim? *Plasma Process. Polym.* 5 534–539
- [61] Weltmann K D 2009 private communication
- [62] Brok W J M, Bowden M D, van Dijk J, van der Mullen J J A M and Kroesen G M W 2005 Numerical description of discharge characteristics of the plasma needle J. Appl. Phys. 98 013302
- [63] Kim H C, Iza F, Yang S S, Radmilovic-Radjenovic M and Lee J K 2005 Particle and fluid simulations of low-temperature plasma discharges: benchmarks and kinetic effects J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 38 R283–301
- [64] Sakiyama Y and Graves D B 2006 Finite element analysis of an atmospheric pressure rf-excited plasma needle J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 39 3451–6
- [65] Sakiyama Y and Graves D B 2006 Corona-glow transition in the atmospheric pressure rf-excited plasma needle J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 39 3644–52
- [66] Sakiyama Y and Graves D B 2007 Nonthermal atmospheric rf plasma in one-dimensional spherical coordinates: asymmetric sheath structure and the discharge mechanism *J. Appl. Phys.* **101** 073306
- [67] Sakiyama Y, Graves D B and Stoffels E 2008 Influence of electrical properties of treated surface on rf-excited plasma needle at atmospheric pressure *J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys.* **41** 095204
- [68] Sakiyama Y and Graves D B 2009 Neutral gas flow and ring-shaped emission profile in non-thermal rfexcited plasma needle discharge at atmospheric pressure *Plasma Sources Sci. Technol.* 18 025022
- [69] Goree J, Liu B and Drake D 2006 Gas flow dependence for plasma-needle disinfection of s. mutans bacteria J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 39 3479–86
- [70] Boeuf J P 2003 Plasma display panels: physics, recent developments and key issues J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 36 R53–79
- [71] Kushner M J 2004 Modeling of microdischarge devices: Pyramidal structures J. Appl. Phys. 95 846–59
- [72] Iza F, Kim G J, Lee S M, Lee J K, Walsh J L, Zhang Y T and Kong M G 2008 Microplasmas: sources, particle kinetics, and biomedical applications *Plasma Process. Polym.* 5 322–344
- [73] Maclaughlin J A, Anderson R R and Holick M F 1982 Spectral character of sunlight modulates photosynthesis of previtamin-D3 and its photoisomers in human-skin Science 216 1001–3
- [74] Zawilska J B, Rosiak J and Nowak J Z 1999 Effects of near-ultraviolet (UV-A) light on melatonin biosynthesis in vertebrate pineal gland *Biol. Signals Receptors* **8** 64–9
- [75] The International Commission on Non-Ionizing Radiation Protection 2004 Guidelines on limits of exposure to ultraviolet radiation of wavelengths between 180 nm and 400 nm (incoherent optical radiation) *Health Phys.* 87 171–86
- [76] Chadwick C A, Potten C S, Nikaido O, Matsunaga T, Proby C and Young A R 1995 The detection of cyclobutane thymine dimers, (6–4) photolesions using specific antibodies, and the demonstration of depth penetration effects *J. Photochem. Photobiol.* B 28 163–70
- [77] Kuzina S I and Mikhailov A I 1998 Photo-oxidation of polymers 2. Photo-chain reaction of peroxide radicals in polystyrene *Eur. Polym. J.* 34 291–9

- [78] Michnik A, Michalik K and Drzazga Z 2008 Effect of UVC radiation on conformational restructuring of human serum albumin *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B* **90** 170–8
- [79] Bose B, Agarwal S and Chatterjee S N 1990 Membrane lipid peroxidation by UV-A: mechanism and implications *Biotechnol. Appl. Biochem.* 12 557–61
- [80] Jurkiewicz B A and Buettner G R 1994 Ultraviolet light-induced free radical formation in skin: an electron paramagnetic resonance study *Photochem. Photobiol.* 59 1–4
- [81] Ogura R, Sugiyama M, Nishi J and Haramaki N 1991 Mechanism of lipid radical formation following exposure of epidermal homogenate to ultraviolet light J. Invest. Dermatol. 97 1044–7
- [82] Durant S T, Paffett K S, Shrivastav M, Timmins G S, Morgan W F and Nickoloff J A 2006 UV radiation induces delayed hyperrecombination associated with hypermutation in human cells *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 26 6047–55
- [83] Munakata N, Hieda K, Kobayashi K, Ito A and Ito T 1986 Action spectra in ultraviolet wavelengths (150-250 nm) for inactivation and mutagenesis of Bacillus subtilis spores obtained with synchrotron radiation *Photochem. Photobiol.* 44 385-90
- [84] Friedberg E C 2001 How nucleotide excision repair protects against cancer Nat. Rev. Cancer 1 22–33
- [85] Waris G and Ahsan H 2006 Reactive oxygen species: role in the development of cancer and various chronic conditions J. Carcinog. 5 14
- [86] MacMicking J, Xie Q W and Nathan C 1997 Nitric oxide and macrophage function Annu. Rev. Immunol. 15 323–50
- [87] Nathan C F 1987 Secretory products of macrophages J. Clin. Invest. 79 319–26
- [88] Thannickal V J and Fanburg B L 2000 Reactive oxygen species in cell signalling Am. J. Physiol.—Lung Cell. Mol. Physiol. 279 L1005–28
- [89] Gamou S and Shimizu N 1995 Hydrogen-peroxide preferentially enhances the tyrosine phosphorylation of epidermal growth-factor receptor FEBS Lett. 357 161–4
- [90] Gonzalez Rubio M, Voit S, Rodriguez Puyol D, Weber M and Marx M 1996 Oxidative stress induces tyrosine phosphorylation of PDGF alpha-receptors and beta-receptors and pp60(c-src) in mesangial cells *Kidney Int.* 50 164–73
- [91] Meyer M, Schreck R and Baeuerle P A 1993 H₂O₂ and antioxidants have opposite effects on activation of Nf-Kappa-B and Ap-1 in intact-cells—Ap-1 as secondary antioxidant-responsive factor *EMBO J.* 12 2005–15
- [92] Nose K, Shibanuma M, Kikuchi K, Kageyama H, Sakiyama S and Kuroki T 1991 Transcriptional activation of early-response genes by hydrogen-peroxide in a mouse osteoblastic cell-line *Eur. J. Biochem.* 201 99–106
- [93] Cooke J P and Losordo D W 2002 Nitric oxide and angiogenesis Circulation 105 2133-5
- [94] Jacintho J D and Kovacic P 2003 Neurotransmission and neurotoxicity by nitric oxide, catecholamines, and glutamate: unifying themes of reactive oxygen species and electron transfer *Curr. Medicinal Chem.* 10 2693–703
- [95] Janssen-Heininger Y M W, Persinger R L, Korn S H, Pantano C, McElhinney B, Reynaert N L, Langen R C J, Ckless K, Shrivastava P and Poynter M E 2002 Reactive nitrogen species and cell signalling— Implications for death or survival of lung epithelium Am. J. Respir. Crit. Care Med. 166 S9–16
- [96] Krotz F, Sohn H Y and Pohl U 2004 Reactive oxygen species—players in the platelet game Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 24 1988–96
- [97] Cook J A, Gius D, Wink D A, Krishna M C, Russo A and Mitchell J B 2004 Oxidative stress, redox, and the tumor microenvironment Semin. Radiat. Oncol. 14 259–66
- [98] Mander P K, Jekabsone A and Brown G C 2006 Microglia proliferation is regulated by hydrogen peroxide from NADPH oxidase J. Immunol. 176 1046–52
- [99] Polytarchou C, Hatziapostolou M and Papadimitriou E 2005 Hydrogen peroxide stimulates proliferation and migration of human prostate cancer cells through activation of activator protein-1 and up-regulation of the heparin affin regulatory peptide gene J. Biolo. Chem. 280 40428–35

- [100] Sauer H, Wartenberg M and Hescheler J 2001 Reactive oxygen species as intracellular messengers during cell growth and differentiation *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 11 173–86
- [101] van Wetering S, van Buul J D, Quik S, Mul F P, Anthony E C, ten Klooster J P, Collard J G and Hordijk P L 2002 Reactive oxygen species mediate Rac-induced loss of cell–cell adhesion in primary human endothelial cells J. Cell Sci. 115 1837–46
- [102] Sen C K, Khanna S, Babior B M, Hunt T K, Ellison E C and Roy S 2002 Oxidant-induced vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human keratinocytes and cutaneous wound healing *J. Biolo. Chem.* 277 33284–90
- [103] Witte M B, Thornton F J, Efron D T and Barbul A. 2000 Enhancement of fibroblast collagen synthesis by nitric oxide *Nitric Oxide* 4 572–82
- [104] Granger D N and Kubes P 1996 Nitric oxide as antiinflammatory agent *Methods Enzymol.* **269** 434–42
- [105] Hogg N and Kalyanaraman B 1999 Nitric oxide and lipid peroxidation Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1411 378-84
- [106] Lam M A, Pattison D I, Bottle S E, Keddie D J and Davies M J 2008 Nitric oxide and nitroxides can act as efficient scavengers of protein-derived free radicals *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* 21 2111–9
- [107] Oplander C, Wetzel W, Cortese M M, Pallua N and Suschek C V 2008 Evidence for a physiological role of intracellularly occurring photolabile nitrogen oxides in human skin fibroblasts *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 44 1752–61
- [108] Wink D A, Hanbauer I, Krishna M C, DeGraff W, Gamson J and Mitchell J B 1993 Nitric oxide protects against cellular damage and cytotoxicity from reactive oxygen species *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90 9813–7
- [109] Brown G C and Borutaite V 2002 Nitric oxide inhibition of mitochondrial respiration and its role in cell death *Free. Radic. Biol. Med.* 33 1440–50
- [110] Kroncke K, Fehsel K and Kolb-Bachofen V 1997 Cytotoxicity versus cytoprotection—how, why, when, and where? *Nitric Oxide* 1 107–20
- [111] Rauen U, Li T, Ioannidis I and de Groot H 2007 Nitric oxide increases toxicity of hydrogen peroxide against rat liver endothelial cells and hepatocytes by inhibition of hydrogen peroxide degradation Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 292 C1440–9
- [112] Clancy R M, Leszczynskapiziak J and Abramson S B 1992 Nitric-oxide, an endothelial-cell relaxation factor, inhibits neutrophil superoxide anion production via a direct action on the NADPH oxidase J. Clin. Invest. 90 1116–21
- [113] Chae H J, Kim H R, Kwak Y G, Ko J K, Joo C U and Chae S W 2001 Signal transduction of nitric oxide donor-induced protection in hydrogen peroxide-mediated apoptosis in H₉C₂ cardiomyoblasts *Immunopharmacol. Immunotoxicol.* 23 187–204
- [114] Farias-Eisner R, Chaudhuri G, Aeberhard E and Fukuto J M 1996 The chemistry and tumoricidal activity of nitric oxide/hydrogen peroxide and the implications to cell resistance/susceptibility J. Biol. Chem. 271 6144–51
- [115] Kotamraju S, Tampo Y, Keszler A, Chitambar C R, Joseph J, Haas A L and Kalyanaraman B 2003 Nitric oxide inhibits H₂O₂-induced transferrin receptor-dependent apoptosis in endothelial cells: role of ubiquitin-proteasome pathway *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 100 10653–8
- [116] Yoshioka Y, Kitao T, Kishino T, Yamamuro A and Maeda S 2006 Nitric oxide protects macrophages from hydrogen peroxide-induced apoptosis by inducing the formation of catalase *J. Immunol.* 176 4675–81
- [117] Pacelli R, Wink D A, Cook J A, Krishna M C, DeGraff W, Friedman N, Tsokos M, Samuni A and Mitchell J B 1995 Nitric oxide potentiates hydrogen peroxide-induced killing of *Escherichia coli*. J. Exp. Med. 182 1469–79
- [118] Dawe R S 2003 A quantitative review of studies comparing the efficacy of narrow-band and broad-band ultraviolet B for psoriasis *Br. J. Dermatol.* 149 669–72
- [119] Reynolds N J, Franklin V, Gray J C, Diffey B L and Farr P M 2001 Narrow-band ultraviolet B and broadband ultraviolet A phototherapy in adult atopic eczema: a randomised controlled trial *Lancet* 357 2012–6
- [120] Yones S S, Palmer R A, Garibaldinos T M and Hawk J L 2007 Randomized double-blind trial of treatment of vitiligo: efficacy of psoralen-UV-A therapy vs narrowband-UV-B therapy Arch. Dermatol. 143 578–84

- [121] Chotigeat U, Khorana M and Kanjanapattanakul W 2007 Inhaled nitric oxide in newborns with severe hypoxic respiratory failure J. Med. Assoc. Thai. 90 266–71
- [122] Miller M R and Megson I L 2007 Recent developments in nitric oxide donor drugs Br. J. Pharmacol. 151 305–21
- [123] Roy S, Khanna S, Nallu K, Hunt T K and Sen C K 2006 Dermal wound healing is subject to redox control Mol. Ther. 13 211–20
- [124] Petrova N and Edmonds M 2006 Emerging drugs for diabetic foot ulcers Expert Opin. Emerg. Drugs 11 709–24
- [125] Sen C K 2003 The general case for redox control of wound repair Wound Repair Regen. 11 431-8
- [126] Laroussi M 1996 Sterilization of contaminated matter with an atmospheric pressure plasma IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci. 24 1188–91
- [127] Prusiner S B 1998 Prions Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 13363-83
- [128] Stoffels E 2007 'Tissue processing' with atmospheric plasmas Contrib. Plasma Phys. 47 40-8
- [129] Perni S, Shama G and Kong M G 2008 Cold atmospheric plasma disinfection of cut fruit surfaces contaminated with migrating microorganizms J. Food Protection 71 1619–25
- [130] Deng X T, Shi J and Kong M G 2006 Physical mechanisms of inactivation of *Bacillus subtilis* spores using cold atmospheric plasmas *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 34 1310–6
- [131] Hall-Stoodley L, Costerton J W and Stoodley P 2004 Bacterial biofilms: from the natural environment to infectious diseases *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 2 95–108
- [132] Vleugels M, Shama G, Deng X T, Greenacre E, Brocklehurst T and Kong M G 2005 Atmospheric plasma inactivation of biofilm-forming bacteria for food safety control *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 33 824–8
- [133] Sladek R E J, Filoche S K, Sissons C H and Stoffels E 2007 Treatment of Streptococcus mutants biofilms with a nonthermal atmospheric plasma Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 45 318–23
- [134] Vandervoort K G, Abramzon N and Brelles-Marino G 2008 Plasma interactions with bacterial biofilms as visualized through atomic force microscopy *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 36 1296–7
- [135] Lu X P, Cao Y G, Yang P, Xiong Q, Xiong Z L, Xian Y B and Pan Y 2009 An RC plasma device for sterilization of root canal of teeth *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 37 668–73
- [136] Deng X T, Shi J, Shama G and Kong M G 2005 Effects of microbial loading and sporulation temperature on atmospheric plasma inactivation of Bacillus subtilis spores *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 87 153901
- [137] Yu H, Perni S, Shi J J, Wang D Z, Kong M G and Shama G 2006 Effects of cell surface loading and phase of growth in cold atmospheric gas plasma inactivation of *Escherichia coli* K12 Appl. Microbiol. 101 1323–30
- [138] Rampling A, Wiseman S, Davis L, Hyett A P, Walbridge A N, Payne G C and Cornaby A J 2001 Evidence that hospital hygiene is important in the control of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus auleus*. J. Hosp. Infect. 49 109–16
- [139] McDonald L C, Owings M and Jernigan D B 2006 Clostridium difficile infection in patients discharged from US short-stay hospitals, 1996–2003 Emerg. Infect. Dis. 12 409–15
- [140] Lemmer K, Mielke M, Pauli G and Beekes M 2004 Decontamination of surgical instruments from prion proteins: *in vitro* studies on the detachment, destabilization and degradation of PrPSc bound to steel surfaces J. Gen. Virol. 85 3805–16
- [141] Deng X T, Shi J, Chen H L and Kong M G 2007 Protein destruction by atmospheric pressure glow discharges Appl. Phys. Lett. 90 013903
- [142] Giles K, Glidden D V, Beckwith R, Seoanes R, Peretz D, DeArmond S J and Prusiner S B 2008 Resistance of bovine spongiform encephatology (BSE) prions to inactivation *PLoS Pathog.* 4 e1000206
- [143] Kim G C 2009 private communication
- [144] Laroussi M, Richardson J P and Dobbs F C 2002 Effects of non-equilibrium atmospheric pressure plasmas on the heterotrophic pathways of bacteria and on their cell morphology *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **81** 772–4
- [145] Laroussi M and Leipold F 2004 Evaluation of the roles of reactive species, heat, and UV radiation in the inactivation of bacterial cells by air plasmas at atmospheric pressure Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 233 81–6
- [146] Sharman A, Pruden A, Yu Z and Collins G J 2005 Bacterial inactivation in open air by the afterglow plume emitted from a grounded hollow slot electrode *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 39 339–44

- [147] Perni S, Shama G, Hobman J L, Lund P A, Kershaw C J, Hidalgo-Arroyo G A, Penn C W, Deng X T, Walsh J L and Kong M G 2007 Probing bactericidal mechanisms induced by cold atmospheric plasmas with *Escherichia coli* mutants *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **90** 073902
- [148] Knake N, Reuter S, Niemi K, Schulz-von der Gathen V and Winter J 2008 Absolute atomic oxygen density distributions in the effluent of a microscale atmospheric pressure plasma jet J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 41 194006
- [149] Zhang Y T 2009 private communication
- [150] Walsh J L and Kong M G 2007 10 ns pulsed atmospheric air plasma for uniform treatment of polymeric surfaces Appl. Phys. Lett. 91 251504
- [151] Walsh J L, Zhang Y T, Iza F and Kong M G 2008 Atmospheric-pressure gas breakdown from 2 to 100 MHz Appl. Phys. Lett. 93 221505
- [152] Walsh J L, Iza F and Kong M G 2008 Atmospheric glow discharges from the high-frequency to very highfrequency bands Appl. Phys. Lett. 93 251502
- [153] Bruggeman P, Liu J J, Degroote J, Kong M G, Vierendeels J and Leys C 2008 Dc excited glow discharges in atmospheric pressure air in pin-to-water electrode systems J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 41 215201.
- [154] Stoffels E, Sakiyama Y and Graves D B 2008 Cold atmospheric plasma: charged species and their interactions with cells and tissues *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 36 1441–57
- [155] Li G, Li H P, Wang L Y, Wang S, Zhao H X, Sun W T, Xing X H and Bao C Y 2008 Genetic effects of radio-frequency, atmospheric-pressure glow discharges with helium *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 92 221504
- [156] Kalghatgi S U, Fridman G, Fridman A, Friedman G and Clyne A M 2008 Non-thermal dielectric barrier discharge plasma treatment of endothelial cells *Conf. Proc. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* pp 3578–81
- [157] Fridman G, Shereshevsky A, Jost M M, Brooks A D, Fridman A, Gutsol A, Vasilets V and Friedman G 2007 Floating electrode dielectric barrier discharge plasma in air promoting apoptotic behavior in melanoma skin cancer cell lines *Plasma Chem. Plasma Process.* 27 163–76
- [158] Kieft I E, Darios D, Roks A J M and Stoffels E 2005 Plasma treatment of mammalian vascular cells: a quantitative description *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 33 771–5
- [159] Kieft I E, Kurdi M and Stoffels E 2006 Reattachment and apoptosis after plasma-needle treatment of cultures cells *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 34 1331–6
- [160] Shashurin A, Keidar M, Bronnikov S, Jurjus R A and Stepp M A 2008 Living tissue under treatment of cold plasma atmospheric jet *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 93 181501
- [161] Stoffels E, Kieft I E and Sladek R E J 2003 Superficial treatment of mammalian cells using plasma needle J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 36 2908–13
- [162] Stoffels E, Roks A J M and Deelmm L E 2008 Delayed effects of cold atmospheric plasma on vascular cells Plasma Process. Polym. 5 599–605
- [163] Yonson S, Coulombe S, Leveille V and Leask R L 2006 Cell treatment and surface functionalization using a miniature atmospheric pressure glow discharge plasma torch J. Phys. D: Appl. Phys. 39 3508–13
- [164] Stadler K R and Woloszko J 2007 Some physics and chemistry of electrosurgical plasma discharges Contrib. Plasma Phys. 47 64–71
- [165] Kalghatgi S U, Fridman G, Cooper M, Nagaraj G, Peddinghaus M, Balasubramanian M, Vasilets V N, Gutsol A F, Fridman A and Friedman G 2007 Mechanism of blood coagulation by nonthermal atmospheric pressure dielectric barrier discharge plasma *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 35 1559–66
- [166] Kanduc D et al 2002 Cell death: apoptosis versus necrosis (review) Int. J. Oncol. 21 165–70
- [167] Kim D, Gweon B, Kim D, Choe W and Shin J 2008 A feasibility study for the cancer therapy using cold plasma 13th Int. Conf. on Biomedical Engineering pp 355–7
- [168] Kim G, Lee H and Shon C 2009 The effect of a micro plasma on melanoma (G361) cancer cells J. Korean Phys. Soc. 54 628–632
- [169] Zhang X H, Li M J, Zhou R L, Feng K C and Yang S Z 2008 Ablation of liver cancer cells *in vitro* by a plasma needle *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 93 021502
- [170] McCaig C D, Rajnicek A M, Song B and Zhao M 2005 Controlling cell behavior electrically: current views and future potential *Physiol. Rev.* 85 943–78

- [171] Mamontov S G and Ivanova L N 1971 Effect of a low-frequency electric field on cell division in mouse tissues *Translated from Byulleten' Fksperimental'noi Biologii i Meditsiny* 71 95–6
- [172] Titushkin I and Cho M 2009 Regulation of cell cytoskeleton and mechanics by electric field: role of linker proteins *Biophys. J.* 96 717–28
- [173] Robinson K R 1985 The responses of cells to electric fields: a review J. Cell Biol. 101 2023-7
- [174] Cho M R, Thatte H S, Silvia M T and Golan D E 1990 Transmembrane calcium influx induced by ac electric fields FASEB J. 13 677–83
- [175] Bourguignon G J and Bourguignon L Y W 1987 Electric stimulation of protein and DNA synthesis in human fibroblasts FASEB J. 1 398–402
- [176] Forrester J V, Lois N, Zhao M and McCaig C 2007 The spark of life: the role of electric fields in regulating cell behaviour using the eye as a model system *Ophthalmic Res.* 39 4–16
- [177] Stacey M, Stickley J, Fox P, Statler V, Schoenbach K, Beebe S J and Buescher S 2003 Differential effects in cells exposed to ultra-short, high intensity electric fields: cell survival, DNA damage, and cell cycle analysis *Mutation Res.* 542 65–75
- [178] Chang D C 1989 Cell poration and cell fusion using an oscillating electric field *Biophys. J.* 56 641–52
- [179] Teissié J and Rols M-P 1993 An Experimental evaluation of the critical potential difference inducing cell membrane electropermeabilization *Biophys. J.* 65 409–13
- [180] Beebe J S, White J, Blackmore P F, Deng Y, Somers K and Schoenbach K H 2003 Diverse effects of nanosecond pulsed electric fields on cells and tissues DNA Cell Biol. 22 785–96
- [181] Susil R, Šemrov D and Miklavčič D 1998 Electric field-induced transmembrane potential depends on cell density and organization *Electro magnetobiol.* 17 391–9
- [182] Frey W, White J A, Price R O, Blackmore P F, Joshi R P, Nuccitelli R, Beebe S J, Schoenbach K H and Kolb J F 2006 Plasma membrane voltage changes during nanosecond pulsed electric field exposure *Biophys. J.* 90 3608–15
- [183] Binhi V N and Goldman R J 2000 Ion-protein dissociation predicts 'windows' in electric field-induced wound-cell proliferation *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1474 147–56
- [184] Gowrishankar T R and Weaver J C 2003 An approach to electrical modeling of single and multiple cells Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100 3203–8
- [185] Kirson E D et al 2007 Alternating electric fields arrest cell proliferation in animal tumor models and human brain tumors Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104 10152–7
- [186] Keese C R and Giaever I 1994 A biosensor that monitors cell morphology with electrical fields IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. 13 402–8
- [187] Joshi R P and Schoenbach K H 2000 Electroporation dynamics in biological cells subjected to ultrafast electrical pulses: a numerical simulation study *Phys. Rev. E* 62 1025–33
- [188] Joshi R P, Hu Q, Aly R and Schoenbach K H 2001 Self-consistent simulations of electroporation dynamics in biological cells subjected to ultrashort electrical pulses *Phys. Rev.* E 64 011913
- [189] Hu Q, Viswanadham S, Joshi R P, Schoenbach K H, Beebe S J and Blackmore P F 2005 Simulations of transient membrane behavior in cells subjected to a high-intensity ultrashort electric pulse *Phys. Rev.* E 71 031914
- [190] Wang E, Reid B, Lois N, Forrester J V, McCaig C D and Zhao M 2005 Electrical inhibition of lens epithelial cell proliferation: an additional factor in secondary cataract? *FASEB J.* 19 842–4
- [191] Zimmerman U 1982 Electric field-mediated fusion and related electrical phenomena *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 694 227–77
- [192] Zimmerman U, Pilwat G and Pohl H A 1982 Electric field-mediated cell fusion J. Biol. Phys. 10 43-50
- [193] Brown M J and Loew L M 1994 Electric field-directed fibroblast locomotion involves cell surface molecular reorganization and is calcium independent J. Cell Biol. 127 117–28
- [194] Onuma E K and Hui S-W 1988 Electric field-directed cell shape changes, displacement, and cytoskeletal reorganization are calcium dependent J. Cell Biol. 106 2067–75
- [195] Beebe S J, Fox P M, Rec L J, Willis E L K and Schoenbach K H 2003 Nanosecond, high-intensity pulsed electric fields induce apoptosis in human cells FASEB J. 17 1493–5

- [196] Beebe S J, Fox P M, Rec L J, Somers K, Stark R H and Schoenbach K H 2001 Nanosecond pulsed electric field (nsPEF) effects on cells and tissues: apoptosis induction and tumor growth inhibition *Digest of Papers IEEE Int. Conf. Plasma Sci.* pp. 211–5
- [197] Schoenbach K H, Katsuki S, Stark R H, Buescher E S and Beebe S J 2002 Bioelectrics—new applicants for pulsed power technology *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 30 293–300
- [198] Schoenbach K H, Joshi R P, Kolb J F, Chen N, Stacey M, Blackmore P F, Buescher E S and Beebe S J 2004 Ultrashort electrical pulses open a new gateway into biological cells *Proc. IEEE* 92 1122–37
- [199] Schoenbach K H, Peterkin F E, Alden R W and Beebe S J 1997 The effect of pulsed electric fields on biological cells: experiments and applications *IEEE Trans. Plasma Sci.* 25 284–92
- [200] Nuccitelli R, Pliquett U, Chen X, Ford W, Swanson R J, Beebe S J, Kolk J F and and S 2006 Nanosecond pulsed electric fields cause melanomas to self-destruct *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 343 351–60
- [201] Stacey M, Stickley J, Fox P, Statler V, Schoenbach K, Beebe S J and Buescher S 2003 Differential effects in cells exposed to ultra-short, high intensity electric fields: cell survival, DNA damage, and cell cycle analysis *Mutat. Res.* 542 65–75
- [202] White J A, Blackmore P F, Schoenbach K H and Beebe S J 2004 Stimulation of capacitative calcium entry in HL-60 cells by nanosecond pulsed electric fields J. Biol. Chem. 279 22964–72
- [203] Schoenbach K H, Joshi R P, Stark R H, Dobbs F C and Beebe S J 2000 Bacterial decontamination of liquids with pulsed electric fields *IEEE Trans. Dielectr. Electr. Insul.* 7 637–45
- [204] Buescher E S and Schoenbach K H 2003 Effects of submicrosecond, high intensity pulsed electric fields on living cells—intracellular electromanipulation IEEE Trans. Dielectr. Electr. Insul. 10 788–94
- [205] Beebe S J, Blackmore F P, White J, Joshi R P, Schoenbach K H and Hjalmaron H P 2004 Nanosecond pulsed electric fields modulate cell function through intracellular signal transduction mechanisms *Physiol. Meas.* 25 1077–93
- [206] Deng J, Schoenbach K H, Buescher E S, Hair P S, Fox P M and Beebe S J 2003 The effects of intense submicrosecond electrical pulses on cells *Biophys. J.* 84 2709–14
- [207] Goldman R and Pollack S 1996 Electric fields and proliferation in a chronic wound model Bioelectromagnetics 17 450–7
- [208] Dubé J, Méthot S, Moulin V, Goulet D, Bourdage M, Auger F A and Germain L 2005 External electric fields induce morphological changes on human skin cells cultured *in vitro Proc. XXVIIIth URSI General* Assembly (New Delhi)